

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Relationship Between Nurse-to-Patient Ratios, Patient Satisfaction Scores, and Hospital Profitability

Patrick Ross Bumstead Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons, Health and Medical Administration Commons, and the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Patrick Ross Bumstead

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Lisa Cave, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Natalie Casale, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Gregory Uche, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Relationship Between Nurse-to-Patient Ratios, Patient Satisfaction Scores, and Hospital

Profitability

by

Patrick Ross Bumstead

MBA, Brandman University, 2017

BA, Cal State San Bernardino, 2013

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Abstract

In 2019, hospital profitability margins were at their lowest levels since the great recession due to a declining volume of patients. Hospital executives who fail to improve profitability are at risk of sustainability. Grounded in the service-profit chain theory, the purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine whether nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores significantly predict hospital profitability. Data were collected from 74 hospitals in Southern California from the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services government database and publicly available financial statements. Results from multiple regression analysis were not statistically significant. A key recommendation is for hospital executives to invest in software to monitor the number of nurses on staff, the number of hospital beds filled, and the patient satisfaction scores they are receiving. The implications for positive social change include the opportunity for hospital executives to understand nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction in hospitals to improve the health of the individuals in local communities.

Relationship Between Nurse-to-Patient Ratios, Patient Satisfaction Scores, and Hospital

Profitability

by

Patrick Ross Bumstead

MBA, Brandman University, 2017

BA, Cal State San Bernardino, 2013

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this doctoral research project to Keshia Lamons. This has been a long and arduous journey. Without your love and support and ability to refocus me when I tried to stray, I would not have been able to complete this. To my family (living and nonliving), although you may not have all completely understood why I was on this journey, your support was encouraging and helpful. Lastly, to my father, who passed away shortly before I began this journey. I know you knew I was going to do this, and I know I have made you proud. You are greatly missed and forever in my heart.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge the work and support of my Walden University doctoral committee. To my chair, Dr. Lisa Cave, for her guidance, patience, and motivation throughout my doctoral journey. I would like to thank Dr. Casale for her advice as my second committee member. I would also like to thank my university research reviewer, Dr. Uche, for his advice throughout this process. Lastly, I would like to thank Walden University as a whole. This has been a great experience, and I appreciate you allowing me to join your educational institution.

List of Tables iv
List of Figuresv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement2
Nature of the Study
Research Question4
Hypotheses4
Theoretical Framework4
Operational Definitions5
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations6
Assumptions
Limitations
Delimitations
Significance of the Study7
Contribution to Business Practice
Implications for Social Change7
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature
S-PC Framework10
Related and Contrasting Theoretical Framework 19

Table of Contents

Nurse-to-Patient Ratio and Patient Satisfaction	
Nurse-to-Patient Ratio	
Patient Satisfaction	
Hospital Profitability	
Measure of Variables	
Patient-Centered Care	
Transition	35
Section 2: The Project	37
Purpose Statement	
Role of the Researcher	
Participants	
Research Method	
Research Design	40
Population and Sampling	41
Ethical Research	42
Instrumentation	43
Data Collection Technique	44
Data Analysis	45
Research Question	
Hypotheses	
Study Validity	49
Transition	51

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change
Introduction
Presentation of Findings
Descriptive Statistics
Tests of Assumptions
Inferential Results
Analysis Summary 60
Application to Professional Practice
Implications for Social Change62
Recommendations for Action
Recommendations for Further Research
Reflections64
Conclusion64
References
Appendix: Secondary Data Nature and Source90

List of Tables

Table 1	Type and Age of Sources Used for the Literature Review	. 9
Table 2	Descriptive Statistics of the Independent and Dependent Variables	53
Table 3	Correlation Coefficient of the Variables	54
Table 4	Summary of the Regression Results	59
Table 5	Model Summary of the Regression	59
Table 6	Coefficient Estimates From the Regression	59

List of Figures

Figure 1	A Priori Sample Size (N=74) Generated Using G*Power Software	42
Figure 2	Normal Probability Plot (P-P) of the Regression Standardized Residuals	55
Figure 3	Scatterplot of the Standardized Residuals	57

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Increases in health care costs prompted federal changes to hospital funding. The federal changes in funding coupled with the passage of the Affordable Care Act incentivized hospitals and physicians to focus on patient quality (Elliott et al., 2015). Hospital funding is based partially on the patient's well-being score from the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) who administer the Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS) survey (CMS, 2019c).

Background of the Problem

Traditionally hospital leaders have focused on patients' clinical outcomes to measure hospital quality (Pross et al., 2017). The standard service model in health care has been a fee-for-service model (Guo et al., 2019). However, many health care leaders have refrained from switching from fee-for-service to quality-based payment models (Damberg et al., 2015). In January 2015, Medicare and numerous private payers set datespecific goals for making that change (Guo et al., 2019). Sylvia Mathews Burwell, Secretary for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, announced that half of Medicare's provider payments would come through alternative payment models by 2019 (ITUP, 2015). Hospital funding is based in part on how well the hospital scores on the HCAHPS (Rozario, 2019). CMS (2019c) started administering the HCAHPS survey in 2008 to compare hospitals locally, regionally, and nationally. The patient-reported outcomes focus on patient's well-being and the patient's satisfaction with the care they received (Rozario, 2019). Now that hospitals receive a significant amount of their funding based on patient satisfaction scores from the HCAHPS surveys, it is essential for hospital executives to be patient centered and focused (CMS, 2020a). Some hospital executives do not understand the relationship between patient satisfaction, nurse-to-patient ratios, and hospital profitability. Hospital executives need to focus on the quality-of-care measures that help them improve issues that affect their funding (CMS, 2020b). If hospital executives receive less funding, they will have less money to reinvest in continued research or to improve patient care. There is a growing need for continued research on how patient satisfaction and nurse-to-patient ratios affect hospital profitability.

Problem Statement

Decreases in hospital profitability have been directly related to patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratios (Cho & Hong, 2018). According to a 2017 National Healthcare Retention and RN Staffing Report (as cited in Blouin & Podjasek, 2019), hospitals can lose between 5.1 and 7.86 million dollars annually from replacing nurses who left their job due to extended periods of increased workloads. The general business problem was that hospital leaders were observing lower profits. The specific business problem was that some hospital executives do not understand the relationship between nurse-to-patient ratios, patient satisfaction scores, and hospital profitability.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between nurse-to-patient ratios, patient satisfaction scores, and hospital profitability. The targeted population for this study was hospitals located in Southern

California. The independent variables were nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores. The dependent variable was hospital profitability. The implications for social change included the potential to show hospital executives that better patient care is a leading contributing factor to hospital profitability. Hospitals that increase nurse staff to improve nurse-to-patient ratios have significantly better patient outcomes, which lead to higher patient loyalty (Driscoll et al., 2018). Better patient care and outcomes are essential to social change because people with better health care tend to live a better quality of life (Driscoll et al., 2018).

Nature of the Study

There are three types of research: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Saunders et al., 2015). I used a quantitative method to analyze information from multiple hospitals in Southern California. Quantitative methodology is appropriate when researchers document results to confirm a hypothesis, use numerical data, use structured theoretical frameworks, or use closed-ended questionnaires (Saunders et al., 2015). Qualitative studies are the most appropriate method when the researcher wants to explore and understand the meaning for individual or group attributes to a specific business problem (Yin, 2018). Mixed-methods research encompasses quantitative and qualitative methods and must meet all requirements from both (Yin, 2018). I did not explore the understandings or meanings of a group of individuals, so the qualitative and mixedmethods approaches were not appropriate for this study.

In quantitative research, there are three types of designs: (a) experimental, (b) correlational, and (c) descriptive survey. Experimental research refers to a group of

methods in which the researcher creates different conditions and evaluates the effects on the participants (Yin, 2018). Correlational research involves discovering and measuring the relationship between two or more variables (Yin, 2018). Survey research involves describing characteristics of a group or population (Yin, 2018). In the current study, I did not create different conditions for participants or describe the characteristics of a group or population; therefore, the correlational design was appropriate for my quantitative research project.

Research Question

Does a linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores significantly predict hospital profitability?

Hypotheses

 H_{o} : The linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores does not significantly predict hospital profitability.

 H_a : The linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores significantly predicts hospital profitability.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework I chose to ground my quantitative correlational study was the service-profit chain (S-PC) framework created by Heskett et al. (1994). In the S-PC framework, researchers focus on how internal service quality helps improve employee satisfaction, customer (patient) satisfaction that can lead to loyalty, and revenue growth and increased profitability. The factors that make up the S-PC are profit and growth, customer (patient) loyalty, customer (patient) satisfaction, and value of service (Heskett et al., 1994). The value of service patients receive primarily impacts their satisfaction; patient satisfaction directly contributes to patient loyalty, and patient loyalty contributes to profit and growth directly (Heskett et al., 1994).

Using nurse-to-patient ratios, I examined whether having adequate staff helps hospital executives provide a higher quality of care, resulting in higher patient satisfaction scores and patients' likelihood of developing hospital loyalty. Loyal patients are repeat patients and provide positive word of mouth for referrals (Chang et al., 2017). A business needs to have more revenue than expenses to be profitable. Returning loyal patients help to increase revenues and having appropriate nurse-to-patient ratios reduces the chance of injury to patients, which helps reduce expenses (Leigh et al., 2015).

Operational Definitions

Fee-for-service reimbursement: Fee-for-service reimbursement is a form of payment that occurs when a health care provider performs a service for a patient not already covered as part of the health care provider's contract (Chung et al., 2015).

Hospital consumer assessment of health care providers and suppliers (HCAHPS): HCAHPS is a general survey given to patients by the CMS to determine the patients' experience using a rating system (Elliott et al., 2015).

Pay-for-performance programs: Pay-for-performance programs are designed to pay health care providers based on measurements of cost and quality of care (Damberg et al., 2015).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Researchers use assumptions to provide a foundation to explain things the researcher assumes to be true (Leedy & Ormrod, 2016). There were two main assumptions in the current study. The first assumption was that all hospital leaders reported their revenue in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. The second assumption was that all hospital statistics were reported and recorded accurately on government data sites.

Limitations

Researchers use the limitations section to clarify the challenges they faced while conducting their study, which helps the reader to understand the scope of the research more fully (Leedy & Ormrod, 2016). There was only one limitation to the current study. I was a novice researcher.

Delimitations

Researchers use the delimitations section to discuss the restrictions of the study or what was not a part of the study (Leedy & Ormrod, 2016). There were four delimitations in the current study. The first delimitation was that I used correlation rather than causation to examine the relationship between patient satisfaction score, nurse-to-patient ratios, and hospital profitability. The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between nurse-to-patient ratios, patient satisfaction scores, and hospital profitability, not to determine whether there was a causal relationship between the independent and dependent variables. The second delimitation was that I focused only on hospitals located in Southern California. The third delimitation was that I did not consider other drivers of profitability. The fourth delimitation was that I focused only on hospitals in Southern California.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

The results of this study showed the estimated relationship between nurse-topatient ratios, patient satisfaction scores, and hospital profitability. Hospital executives could use this information to understand how nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction relate to hospital profitability. Executives could use this information to develop strategies to provide better nurse-to-patient ratios and receive higher patient satisfaction scores that could result in higher hospital profits.

Implications for Social Change

The results of this study could improve nurse-to-patient ratios, patient satisfaction scores, and hospital profitability. Better nurse-to-patient ratios and increased patient satisfaction scores could contribute to the social well-being of the hospital's patients and the community, and provide positive social change (Driscoll et al., 2018). Better nurse-to-patient ratios and improved patient satisfaction in hospitals could improve the health of the population. If the population has improved health, individuals may be likely to live a better quality of life. Focusing on improving nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction could improve conditions for individuals in the community and produce a positive social impact.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

This was a correlational study of patient satisfaction scores, nurse-to-patient ratios, and the profitability of hospitals. Traditionally, health care quality has been measured using clinical outcomes and not the patient's view of the quality of care (Shafei et al., 2019). Starting in 2012, CMS began withholding Medicare reimbursement from hospitals based on their quality-of-care performance (CMS, 2020a). Whether to withhold payment was based 30% on how well the hospital scored on the HCAHPS (Sherman, 2014).

In this literature review, I provide a comprehensive and critical analysis and synthesis of literature related to patient satisfaction scores, nurse-to-patient ratios, and hospital profitability. Using the S-PC framework developed by Heskett et al. (1994), I examined literature that pertained to each independent and dependent variable and literature in which the relationship of the independent and dependent variables was discussed and evaluated. The following subsections make up the literature review: S-PC framework, alternative theory, the relationship between nurse-to-patient ratio and patient satisfaction, nurse-to-patient ratio, patient-centered care, and patient satisfaction.

I searched for peer-reviewed articles using the Walden University library and Google Scholar. I searched the following databases: Health & Medical, Healthcare Administration, Nursing & Allied Health, ProQuest Central, ProQuest Health & Medical Complete, and ScienceDirect. The most common search terms used were *patient satisfaction, nurse-to-patient ratio, hospital profitability, patient care*, and *HCAHPS*. While conducting my searches, I did not restrict the articles returned regarding publication date or location, although I did focus on articles published in 2015 or later (see Table 1). During the literature review process, I discovered additional sources from the reference sections of articles reviewed.

Table 1

Type and Age of Sources Used for the Literature Review

Source type	Before 2017	2017 or later
Books	4	5
Articles/journals	36	105
Websites	4	7
Total	44	117

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between patient satisfaction scores, nurse-to-patient ratios, and hospital profitability. The population targeted in this study was hospitals in Southern California. Driscoll et al. (2018) discussed how hospitals that increase nursing staff to improve nurse-to-patient ratios have significantly better patient outcomes, which leads to higher patient loyalty. Driscoll et al. also noted the importance of patient care and outcomes as contributing factors to social change, stating that people with better healthcare tend to live a better quality of life. This study's null hypothesis was the following: The linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores does not significantly predict hospital profitability. The alternative hypothesis was the following: The linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores significantly predicts hospital profitability.

S-PC Framework

In this study, I used the S-PC framework developed by Heskett et al. (1994) as the theoretical framework. In the S-PC, Heskett et al. suggested that operations contribute to profits through the following means: (a) quality support services and policies that enable employees to deliver results to customers contribute to employee satisfaction; (b) satisfied, loyal, and productive employees create greater value; (c) more significant value of service increases customer satisfaction; (d) customers who are more highly satisfied become loyal customers; and (e) profits are motivated by loyal customers. Following these S-PC principles described by Heskett et al., I examined the possible correlation between nurse-to-patient ratios, patient satisfaction scores, and the profitability of hospitals in Southern California.

The rationale for choosing the S-PC framework was that the chain of events directly relates to hospitals' events. Cleary et al. (2014) stated that hospitals had moved away from having nurses only provide medications to patients to allowing nurses to communicate openly with patients. Person-centered care and the nursing staff's caring factor have been leading contributors to the culture change in human caring (Brewer & Watson, 2015). Allowing nurses to communicate openly with patients feel more involved in their care and more highly satisfied with the quality of care, leading to them becoming loyal patients (Heskett et al., 1994).

The S-PC has three primary components: (a) employee satisfaction, (b) customer satisfaction, and (c) business performance (Heskett et al., 1994). Oakley (2012) showed that increased levels of customer satisfaction led to repeat business and improved

margins. The link between customer satisfaction and improved business performance has been the most widely studied aspect of the S-PC framework. Many researchers have found that customers are the most satisfied after positive interactions with happy, loyal, and productive employees (Pantouvakis & Bouranta, 2013). Nurses provide a higher quality of care for their patients when they feel they have the right tools to succeed, which leads to repeat customers/patients and improved margins.

Simmons (2016) used the S-PC framework to show a correlation between customer resource management (CRM) system use, customer satisfaction, and gross revenue for North American industrial service companies. Simmons found that both CRM use and customer satisfaction were statistically significant and accounted for 30% of the gross revenue variation. Briggs et al. (2020) examined the impact of service orientation on retailer profitability using the S-PC framework. They concluded that for brick-and-mortar businesses to maintain a competitive advantage against online retailers, they must consistently deliver higher levels of service because high levels of customer service lead to profitability. Although Simmons and Briggs et al. had different goals in their studies, they both showed the impact of customer service on the profitability of an organization by using the S-PC framework.

Some researchers have argued that the existing data on the S-PC framework are ambiguous, leaving them with an uncertainty of its effectiveness. Hogreve et al. (2017) conducted a meta-analytic test on the S-PC framework seeking to provide the first comprehensive test of the S-PC framework. In addition to examining the traditional chain of the framework, they also examined the following relationships and impacts: internal service quality on employee retention, internal service quality on employee productivity, internal service quality on external service quality, employee satisfaction on customer satisfaction, employee productivity on customer loyalty, external service quality on profitability, and external service quality on customer loyalty. Hogreve et al. concluded their findings were in line with the conventual S-PC framework, although they highlighted a specific significant contributor to S-PC by stating "employee satisfaction needs to translate into employee productivity to affect customer loyalty positively" (p. 57). Many researchers use a modified version of the S-PC framework, such as Steinke (2009) who focused on service design in the emergency room. Steinke concluded a significant positive relationship between the elements of the S-PC framework.

Researchers have asserted that although the S-PC framework succeeds in aiding executives with prognoses, there are several omitted factors that could have an impact on outcomes (Pasupathy & Triantis, 2007). Strydom et al. (2019) agreed with Pasupathy and Triantis (2007) and pointed out the fact that patients focus more heavily on negative performance than positive performance. Pasupathy and Triantis also evaluated service operations using the S-PC framework to build a dynamic S-PC model that included uncontrollable factors such as market size and competition because each of the S-PC attributes occurs at different times with different outside factors. Researchers have studied the S-PC framework in a variety of ways and across multiple sectors; however, researchers had not used the framework to examine the relationship between patient satisfaction, nurse-to-patient ratio, and profitability of hospitals. In the current study, I examined whether a correlation exists between patient satisfaction, nurse-to-patient ratio, and profitability of hospitals.

Employee Satisfaction

Factors that influence employee satisfaction have changed over time. It is still common for managers to utilize an older understanding of employee satisfaction, including working conditions, compensation, and interpersonal relationships (Frey et al., 2013). Evanschitzky et al. (2011) offered a more straightforward definition of employee satisfaction as the overall assessment of the job by the employee. In more recent years, employees have considered a multitude of factors impacting their overall assessment of their jobs. Within hospitals, when nurses experience increased patient loads for prolonged periods of time, this may lower their overall assessment of the job (i.e., lower satisfaction) (Pantouvakis & Bouranta, 2013). Satisfied employees demonstrate positive behaviors that lead to higher quality customer service (Pantouvakis & Bouranta, 2013). When nurses have more manageable patient loads, this not only helps them feel more satisfied with their job, but it also allows the patients to receive a higher quality of care.

Patients may feel more comfortable in hospitals that take care of their employees because they experience a higher quality of care from those employees (Pantouvakis & Bouranta, 2013). Evanschitzky et al. (2011) discovered that employee satisfaction not only leads to improved customer satisfaction, but it also leads to a higher probability of the customer becoming a repeat customer. Increased repeat customers should also positively impact financial performance. Raharjo et al. (2016) also investigated the relationship between satisfied employees and satisfied patients by using a partial least squares equation and concluded that there is strong evidence for patient experience (quality of service the patient experienced) affecting their overall satisfaction. Satisfied nurses tend to provide better quality health care resulting in higher levels of patient satisfaction, which may lead to a higher level of loyalty as well.

Satisfied nurses (i.e., employees) contribute to hospitals in a multitude of ways. There is a statistically significant relationship (p = .008) between nurse workload, teamwork, and service quality (Muskananfola & Nasution, 2019). Both independent variables in this study were strongly related to one another and were collectively shown to have an impact on the profitability of the hospital. As Hogreve et al. (2017) pointed out in their meta-analytic test on the S-PC framework, each segment of the S-PC framework affects additional segments of the framework and profitability. Lu et al. (2019) conducted a literature review focusing on job satisfaction among nurses, using 59 articles and papers published between 2012 and 2017. They concluded that increasing nurses' job satisfaction is vital to the success of hospitals. Improving nurses' job satisfaction may improve patients' perceptions of the quality of care and may also aid in maintaining adequate nursing staff, which has been at a shortfall for many years (Lu et al., 2019). Keeping nurses on staff longer can improve patient satisfaction and reduce the costs related to constantly retraining nurses, which may increase profitability (Lu et al., 2019).

Customer Satisfaction

If customers/patients are not satisfied with a business/hospital, it is unlikely they will become repeat customers/patients. Customer satisfaction is a customer's sense of happiness derived from their experience with a company or individual compared with their expectations prior to the interaction (Chougule et al., 2013). Chougule et al. (2013) described two separate conceptualizations of customer interactions concerning customer satisfaction: (a) transaction-specific customer satisfaction, which refers to a single customer interaction, and (b) cumulative satisfaction, which is a summation of the customer's experiences with a company over time. The quality of health care patients receive impacts their satisfaction reported on the HCAHPS survey (Chougule et al., 2013). Chandrasekar and Thangaraj (2021) agreed with Chougule et al. that service quality is one of the most important factors of success for hospitals. Ensuring all staff buy into improved patient care becomes essential to improving patient satisfaction scores.

A patient can have multiple individual encounters within 1 day and arrive at a cumulative satisfaction decision quickly (Keiningham et al., 2014). Oakley (2012) found that increased levels of customer service resulted in customer retention, more repeat business, increased gross margins, reduced patient acquisition costs, and improved long-term revenues. Additionally, satisfied customers/patients are willing to pay a premium for a product or service (Baumann et al., 2012). As Baumann et al. (2012) stated, patients are willing to pay more for a higher quality of service and will likely return to the hospital that makes them feel like more than just a number. Similarly, Arsita and Idris (2019) did not find a significant relationship between hospital costs and the level of patient satisfaction. Hospitals that increase the levels of customer service create revenue by increasing gross margins and market share in addition to revenue from the increased patient satisfaction scores (Fatima et al., 2017).

Satisfied customers (or patients) impact multiple factors, resulting in a gain or loss of profitability. Lim et al. (2018) conducted a study on the role of hospital service quality in developing the satisfaction of the patients and hospital performance. Using a model that included service quality, patient satisfaction, hospital utilization, and financial performance, Lim et al. concluded that patient satisfaction and hospital utilization have a significant positive relationship with hospital financial performance. Similar to Lim et al., Fatima et al. (2017) concluded that patient satisfaction has a significant positive relationship with financial performance. Fatima et al. showed how improved patient satisfaction scores improved patient loyalty, repeat customers, and positive word of mouth, resulting in increased market share. Focusing on improving patient satisfaction may result in better financial performance for hospitals.

Business Financial Performance

Business financial performance is a direct result of employee and customer satisfaction, although there is a multitude of factors that contribute to financial performance. Although financial measures such as revenue, net income, earnings per share, and profitability are still the most widely accepted measure of business performance, some scholars have suggested that using only financial measures is an inadequate way of explaining broader organizational performance (Williams & Naumann, 2011). Verhoef et al. (2010) discussed the value of the customer lifetime value model for businesses. The customer lifetime value model is the sum of revenue derived from a customer/patient over their life with a firm or hospital minus the total cost of selling or servicing the customer or patient (Fan & Ku, 2010). Additionally, Nguyen and Mutum (2012) pointed out that the customer lifetime value model supports the concept that acquiring new customers or patients is more costly than retaining existing ones. Increased financial performance results from increased repeat and loyal customers or patients, and increased repeat and loyal customers or patients result from increased employee satisfaction.

The quality of patient care may be a direct indicator of a hospital's financial position. Conducting a cross-sectional study focused on the correlation between hospital finances and quality and safety of patient care, Akinleye et al. (2019) found a definitive relationship between hospital financial performance and hospital quality performance scores (standardized correlation coefficient = .34, p < .001). Ensuring patients are appropriately cared for should be a leading factor for hospital executives concerned with financial performance. Similar to Akinleye et al., Upadhyay et al. (2019) conducted a longitudinal study that focused on the impact of readmission on the financial performance of hospitals and concluded that increasing readmissions reduces hospital financial performance. Upadhyay et al. seemed to continue where Akinleye et al. finished, finding that when hospitals provide inferior quality service to patients, not only are patients less satisfied, resulting in lower profitability (Akinleye et al.), but the lower quality of service may also result in higher rates of readmissions, resulting in lower profitability (Upadhyay et al., 2019).

Although Akinleye et al. (2019) and Upadhyay et al. (2019) agreed that the quality of care had the most significant impact on financial performance, some researchers believe other aspects may have a greater contribution to financial

performance. Looking at CMS data from 2016–2018, Welsh (2019) focused on cost areas and cost per admission for hospitals and discovered that the five hospital cost areas that contributed to more than 63% of total cost year over year are: (a) private room costs, (b) semiprivate room costs, (c) ICU costs, (d) pharmacy costs, and (e) medical supply costs. Jennings et al. (2017) focused on the impact of community orientation on hospital performance and found that community orientation is positively associated with the total operating margin. The results of these studies show that a multitude of factors can contribute to the financial performance of hospitals.

Within hospitals, there are multiple strategies that may increase business financial performance and improve patient satisfaction scores. Roghani and Chenari (2017) examined the relationship between strategic human capital and financial performance within hospitals. Their study included staff training, staff competence, being valuable, staff experience, being unique, and being inimitable. They concluded that staff training ranked first regarding its impact on financial performance (Roghani & Chenari, 2017). Ly and Cutler (2018) conducted a study focused on ways for U.S. hospitals to improve profit margins and discovered that when hospitals are not able to make significant price increases, they need to become efficient to maintain profitability. Combining these findings with those of Lu et al. (2019) that keeping nurses on staff longer reduces the costs associated with training new staff. Rogahni and Chenari and Lu et al., generate the following recommendations to hospitals for having better trained and longer-tenured staff: (a) provide a better quality of care, (b) help minimize any risk of patients worsening

while in the hospital due to complications, and (c) reduce costs associated with training new nurses.

Related and Contrasting Theoretical Framework

I considered a few different frameworks, including supply chain management (SCM), transformational leadership, Health Belief Model (HBM), and resource dependence theory (RTD). Initially, I thought RTD might work for my study, so I looked most closely at that theoretical framework in comparison to the S-PC framework. Thompson was the first to describe RTD in 1967, although Pfeffer and Salancik later refined it in 1978 (Salancik, 1978; Thompson, 1967). The chief constructs of RTD in a health care environment includes the strategic focus of resources, external environment, reliance on internal resources, management as resource facilitators, and environmental based restrictions (Salancik, 1978; Thompson, 1967). I considered using RTD since the authors focused heavily on resources, and hospital profitability provides resources for the hospital to use.

AlRamadin (2019) used the RTD theory to examine supply chain disruptions in the mining industry. They concluded that supply chain managers could reduce the number of disruptions through better collaboration with their partners. Roczen (2017) conducted a study that evaluated organizational and environmental factors associated with the likelihood of providing palliative care services among urban, non-federal, shortterm, and acute care hospitals and concluded that hospitals that provide palliative care are more efficient at doing so and as such incurred less cost associated with providing said care. In addition to these two studies focused on RTD, I also reviewed a study focused on teaching hospitals in Ireland that used the lens of RTD (Doyle et al., 2016), and a study that used a resource dependence perspective on the presence of hospital-based palliative care programs (Chisholm et al., 2015).

Another theory I considered using was the resource-based view theory (RBV), as this theory relates to the S-PC framework. Internal resources of an organization deliver a competitive advantage is the idea used for RBV (Kash et al., 2014). The resources that can offer a competitive advantage include the organization's procedures, internal technology, external relationships, or anything that offers an advantage (Lin & Wu, 2014). Wetering and Versendaal (2020) applied RBV to the health care industry and discovered that RBV empowers hospital executives to better understand internal performance and resources that improve patient outcomes.

After reviewing these studies using RTD and RBV, I determined that researchers using these theoretical frameworks focus on recourses to obtain profitability. In contrast, in this study, I focused on improving the quality of care (patient satisfaction) and staff (nurse-to-patient ratio) to increase profitability. Therefore, I felt the S-PC framework was most appropriate.

Nurse-to-Patient Ratio and Patient Satisfaction

The quality-of-care patients receive is related to nurse scheduling. When nurses are not able to spend adequate time with patients, patient safety and satisfaction are impacted (Zolot, 2017). In 2017, nurses spent on average 173,337 hours with their patients over one year; however, nurse related hours spent on patients per day were 1.48 hours; a decrease of 3% from previous years (Li et al., 2017). Further, nurses working

long hours may negatively affect patient care (Rogers et al., 2004). Additionally, researchers have found that mortality rates significantly increase with fewer nurses scheduled (Falk & Wallin, 2016). When nurse's patient loads are large, they are not able to spend quality time with their patients within the hours of a regular shift, leading to lower levels of satisfaction, and greater chance of in hospital infection (Carlisle et al., 2020).

Scheduling nurses is a challenge hospital managers face. When hospital managers use advanced scheduling technology, they have a better understanding of their staffing needs, and as a result, nurses can spend more time with patients (Brennan, 2014). Managers can devote more time to patient care when hospitals utilize scheduling technology (Brennan, 2014). Better staffing, measured by total hours per patient day (HPPD), was associated with fewer hospital-acquired pressure injuries (HAPI's), and a stronger probability that patients will recommend the hospital (Halm, 2019). With more time spent on patient care initiatives, patients may realize better overall care and experience higher levels of satisfaction from that care (Brennan, 2014). Patients recommending a hospital may lead to higher patient loads for nurses and increased profitability.

Altogether, having sufficient staff influences the patient quality of care and the employees' job satisfaction. In 2013 less than 30% of all hospitals in the United States reported having a pharmacist consistently scheduled for hospital rounds (Soric et al., 2016). Having a pharmacist included in scheduled rounds to communicate with patients can significantly increase patient satisfaction (Soric et al., 2016). Nurses show higher levels of motivation when appropriate staffing are scheduled (Brennan, 2014). Halm (2019) also stated that appropriate staffing leads to a higher quality of care and less job dissatisfaction and burnout. Patients who receive higher levels of attention may experience higher levels of satisfaction and ultimately feel safer.

Scheduling nurses appropriately and informing patients of HCAHPS scores is essential to improving patient satisfaction scores. Although there are 15 states that have policies related to nurse staffing, California is the only state with a mandated minimum nurse-to-patient ratio (Leigh et al., 2015). The California government understands the importance of appropriate nurse staffing and the impact it has on the quality of patient care, and as previously indicated, patients that receive a higher quality of care positively impact hospital profit margins (Leigh et al., 2015). Researchers showed that hospital nurses are more highly satisfied with their working environment in California than in New Jersey and Pennsylvania in the years following the passage of this law (Leigh et al., 2015). Chen et al. (2019) also found that increased PNR may increase workload, which could further contribute to nurses' decisions to leave their jobs, in addition to an increased risk of burnout and job dissatisfaction. Sometimes individuals who run hospitals can become preoccupied with the financial aspects; therefore, having the government set laws has positively impacted nurse job satisfaction and helped increase the quality of care for patients.

The satisfaction nurses feel with their jobs and their working environments goes a long way to impact patient satisfaction. Previously researchers have shown that a leading indicator for nursing job satisfaction is their workloads (nurse-to-patient ratios).

Researchers have shown that nurse staffing levels are directly related to patient satisfaction levels (Cho et al., 2017; McNicholas et al., 2017). Therefore, nurses who are more satisfied with their jobs tend to have more satisfied patients (McNicholas et al., 2017). Nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction are related to one another.

Nurse-to-Patient Ratio

Nurses are the largest source of employment within hospitals and the employees who interacts most frequently with patients. In a 2002 study, researchers at the University of Pennsylvania concluded that nurse-to-patient ratios of 1:6, as opposed to 1:4, would result in 2.3 additional deaths per 1,000 patients and 8.7 additional deaths per 1,000 patients with complications (as cited by Kowalski et al., 2017). Although 2.3 additional deaths may not seem significant, considering that there are 38 million hospital admissions in the United States each year, in the aggregate, that number becomes much more substantial (Rothberg et al., 2005). Additionally, Carlisle et al. (2020) found an association between increasing nursing staff by one additional full-time nurse and a 9% decrease in hospital related ICU mortality. Carlisle et al. also found that increasing the nurse-to-patient ratio by one per patient day was associated with decreased hospitalacquired pneumonia, unplanned self-device removal, respiratory failure, cardiac arrest in ICUs, and decreased of length of stay by 24%. If hospitals allowed for adequate nursing staff, patients may feel safer and additionally cared for, which leads to better funding and return patients.

Mandated nurse-to-patient ratios are far less common. In 2004, California became the first state to implement mandated nurse-to-patient ratios in hospitals (Leigh et al., 2015). Over the next nine years, 15 other states implemented policies related to nurse staffing; however, no other states have created laws for nurse-to-patient ratios (Leigh et al.). California ultimately arrived at mandated ratios of 1:5, while some hospitals across the country still operate at ratios of 1:10 (Kowalski et al., 2017). Typically, hospital executives claim their highest priority is to improve patient care and stay within their short-term budgets; staffing expenses account for 50-70% of hospital operating budgets (Kowalski et al., 2017). Hospital executives compare the cost of adding more staff to the savings from reduced complications with patients to understand the financial impact better.

The discussion of nurse staffing levels, patient safety, and the hospital's costs requires a multitude of calculations. Having lower nurse-to-patient ratios results in patients having shorter lengths of stay and fewer complications (Carlisle et al., 2020). Registered nurse hours are inversely related to developing pneumonia; that complication alone adds between \$4,225 to \$5,279 additional cost to hospitals per extra day the patient stays (Rothberg et al., 2005). Hospital executives who employ more nurses and reduce the overall responsibilities of nurses could effectively lower the wages for nurses to reduce the cost impact of employing more nurses (Rothberg et al., 2005). In 2017, California had 353,051 nurses that live in California, with a population of 39,358,497. This is almost equal to 9 (8.97) nurses per 1,000 people or a nurse-to-person ratio of one nurse per 111 persons (Census, 2017; Spetz, 2017). A nursing shortage increases the difficulty for hospitals attempting to lower wages to reduce employment costs, as lowering wages has an adverse effect on increasing the nursing population.
Demanding workloads for an increased length of time can cause nurses to become dissatisfied with their jobs. When nurses experience emotional exhaustion from their work, they may cultivate cynical detachment and begin seeing patients as objects as opposed to people (Bakhamis et al., 2019). Factors that contribute to nurses feeling burnt out are excessive workload, staff shortages, and high nurse-to-patient ratios (Bakhamis et al., 2019). Liu and Aungsuroch (2017) also found that the work environment through the path of job satisfaction is a significant cause of nurses feeling burnout. Patients have reported higher levels of confidence in nurses when there are more nurses on staff. Additionally, having more nurses on staff allows them to spend more time with each patient, directly contributing to patient satisfaction (Carlisle et al., 2020). Although employing more nurses may increase hospital costs, the consequences associated with having too few nurses appears to be much more severe.

The most impactful way to improve patient experience and satisfaction is through nurses. Margrave and Salinas (2020) conducted a study on impacting patient satisfaction through strategic nursing initiatives and concluded that the level of happiness nurses have with their work environment is positively linked to patient satisfaction. Additionally, McNicholas et al. (2017) conducted a study on improving the patient experience through nursing satisfaction specifically and concluded that focusing on nurse's job satisfaction will improve patient experience. McNicholas et al. were also able to determine that patient satisfaction is directly related to a nurse's work environment and satisfaction, effective team communication in the hospital, and presence of patient-centered care. Improving nursing work environments (lowering nurse-to-patient ratios) is very impactful to improving patient satisfaction.

Increases in a nurse's workload can also impact patient safety. Millions of patients have experienced injury and or death because of increased nursing workloads (Liu et al., 2018). Researchers have determined there is a direct relationship between nurses' workload and patient safety (Liu et al., 2018). Ample research has indicated that when nurses feel burnt out, this leads to increases in medical errors, infection rates, and patient mortality, resulting in patients' dissatisfaction with the quality of care (Bakhamis et al., 2019). Working conditions that cause nurses to feel burnt out lead to a multitude of negative results for hospitals and their patients.

Patient Satisfaction

Patient satisfaction is the degree to which a patient is satisfied with the health care they received from their doctor and all hospital staff (Al-Harajin et al., 2019). Patient satisfaction may be the most critical aspect to the profitability of hospitals, as, without any patients, hospitals would not earn profits (Oakley, 2012). With patients having increased access to health care choices, quality of care and experience significantly impact the patient's choice of where they go for care (Hultman, 2020). Patients who feel they have received a higher quality of care are not only more likely to return (loyal) to the same hospital but are also more likely to pay their bills once they receive them (Hultman, 2020). Loyal patients are repeat patients and provide positive word-of-mouth referrals (Kim et al., 2017). Improving patient satisfaction creates word of mouth and return customers leading to higher bottom lines.

The amount of access and profit designation (nonprofit or for-profit) of hospitals could have a significant impact on patient satisfaction and/or profitability. Critical access hospitals have higher net incomes compared to acute hospitals (Richter & Muhlestein, 2017). Nonprofit and government hospitals have lower net incomes and operating margins than for-profit hospitals despite having higher patient revenue (Richter & Muhlestein). For-profit hospitals are also associated with lower patient satisfaction scores as measured by HCAHPS (Mazurenko et al., 2017). Critical access hospitals (CAH) are eligible to receive increased Medicare payments as they are cost-based, whereas other hospitals are on the prospective payment system (Casey et al., 2015). To be considered a CAH, the CMS has eight specific criteria that must be met; a few of those requirements are, (a) located in a rural area or an area treated as rural, (b) located either more than 35 miles from the closest hospital or CAH or 15 miles in areas with mountainous terrain or only secondary roads, and (c) furnish 24-hour emergency care services 7 days a week (CMS, 2019a). One reason for the differences in net income for CAH is the payments made by Medicare.

The location of hospitals may impact the volume of patients, however ultimately, increased quality of care has the most significant impact on profitability (Cho & Hong, 2018). CAH must be located an area considered as rural and a minimum distance from any other hospital or CAH (CMS, 2019a). With a possible lower patient volume in CAH, there is a necessity to ensure the highest quality of staff. Patients who underwent procedures at low-volume hospitals had shorter operation times with less blood loss, spent less time in the intensive care unit, and shortened their overall length of stay

(Toomey et al., 2016). Although Santos et al. (2015) concluded having surgical procedures at high volume hospitals (HVH) with high volume surgeons was associated with the overall survival rate; however, the authors did not specify if the increase was due to the hospital or the surgeon. While fewer patients may negatively impact profitability, hospitals with lower volumes tend to be more efficient in their procedures and increase the quality of care to their patients; both of which may allow them to recover the lost profits due to lower volumes (Toomey et al., 2016).

Patients tend to feel safer and experience higher satisfaction when they trust the individuals taking care of them. The cultural competence of nurses had a positive effect on patient satisfaction through several different behaviors (Tang et al., 2019). Nurses who engaged in trust-building and communication-positive behaviors increased patient satisfaction scores (Berhane & Enquselassie, 2016; Tang et al., 2019). Patient trust for the individuals delivering the information can mitigate possible negative impacts from the consultations (Berhane & Enquselassie, 2016). Nurses who exhibited shared decision-making behaviors significantly improved patient satisfaction (Christina et al., 2020; Tang et al., 2019). Patients feel more satisfied when they can be involved in their care and trust the individuals caring for them; this may lead to repeat patients and positive word of mouth.

Building trust and teaching patients may result in higher patient satisfaction scores. There is an increasing emphasis on teaching patients about their health care. Researchers have shown that using a layered learning model (LLM) in a small community hospital not only reduces medication costs but also improves patient satisfaction scores measured by HCAHPS (Soric et al., 2016). Chargualaf et al. (2019) also discovered a positive relationship between LLM and patient care and satisfaction. Teaching patients about their health care improves patient satisfaction scores and reduces cost. Patient satisfaction centers around how much a patient trusts their care provider (Shan et al., 2016). Teaching patients about their care and building trust will increase patient satisfaction scores and reduce operating expenses related to medications.

Hospital Profitability

Hospital profitability is the dependent variable in this study. As previously discussed, patient satisfaction may be the most important factor relating to hospital profitability (Oakley, 2012). Hultman (2020) elaborated on Oakley, pointing out that patients who feel satisfied with their experience at a hospital are more likely to become loyal patients and more likely to pay their bills. Margrave and Salinas (2020), and McNicholas et al. (2017) concluded that higher nurse-to-patient ratios resulted in happier nurses, which was directly related to increased patient satisfaction. Through this study, I showed there is not a direct positive relationship between patient satisfaction, nurse-to-patient ratio, and hospital profitability; likely because there are a multitude of additional variables involved in hospital profitability.

Hospital profitability is vital to the success of hospitals continuing to operate. Lim et al. (2018) evaluated hospital financial performance as impacted by patient satisfaction and market share, and they found that higher patient satisfaction scores positively influence hospital's financial performance (hospital profitability). While Lim et al. looked at how market share and patient satisfaction affected financial performance, Creixans-Tenas and Arimany-Serrat (2018) conducted a study to examine what variables affected profitability most significantly, and they found that management of assets may be most vital to the financial performance of a hospital. The nursing staff is an asset to hospitals, and managing them, and their workload helps retain and improve this asset. Conversely, Bichescu et al. (2018) examined the effectiveness and efficiency of hospitals' ability to provide care and how that related to hospital profitability. They concluded that the average cost per discharge (CPD) was most closely related to profitability over the average length of stay (ALOS) and conformance quality (ConfQual). There are many ways to affect hospital profitability, however many researchers agree that hospital profitability is the most crucial metric to understand fully.

Measure of Variables

Using information reported by the CMS, I measured both independent variables (patient satisfaction and nurse-to-patient ratio). The HCAHPS, initially implemented in 2006, evaluated 32 different areas related to patient satisfaction and experience (Tefera et al., 2016). Focusing on patient satisfaction, Jie et al. (2014) discussed the vital elements of the HCAHPS survey, which include: the responsiveness of the hospital staff to patients' pain and needs, the peacefulness of the hospital, cleanliness of the hospital, and if the patient would recommend this hospital to others. Tefera et al. pointed out that the CMS publishes the results of all HCAHPS surveys with the public on their site along with additional information related to hospitals, including nurse-to-patient ratios.

The HCAHPS survey used by over 31,000 patients and 4,100 hospitals per day has become the benchmark for comparison evaluations among hospitals (Tefera et al., 2016). Jie et al. (2014) pointed out that it is essential for hospitals to participate in the HCAHPS surveys, because the scores from the survey heavily impact the Medicare reimbursement value-based program purchasing of pay for performance (Jie et al., 2014). Hospitals have become more value-based since 2010 when the Affordable Care Act was implemented (Piper & Tallman, 2016). HCAHPS scores are a leading contributor to hospital financial resources.

Many researchers have used HCAHPS data to measure variables. From the multitude of studies, I reviewed using HCAHPS data, the three studies most similar to this study are O'Barr (2017), Patton (2018), and Hendrickson (2018). O'Barr used variables from HCAHPS to predict inpatient satisfaction scores based on hospital characteristics. Patton also used HCAHPS data to measure variables and examine the relationship between patient satisfaction scores of Northern California hospitals and the communication effectiveness of nurses and organizational performance ratings. Lastly, Hendrickson concentrated on patient satisfaction and hospital reimbursement based on HCAHPS survey results posted on the CMS website. These studies have used HCAHPS data to measure variables for their studies in much the same way I used HCAHPS data to measure variable data for my study.

I measured the dependent variable (hospital profitability) by looking at the hospital's public financial income statement to determine their net income. Subtracting costs and expenses from total revenue equals net income. Net income is disseminated among common stockholders as a dividend or held onto as retained earnings (Benton, 2013). Being that net income can be retained by hospitals and used in several ways to benefit the hospital and its patients, I decided that net income was the most appropriate way to determine the success of each hospital in this study.

Patient-Centered Care

Patient centered care (PCC), sometimes referred to as patient and family centered care (PFCC), has become an increasingly prominent metric in health care. The fundamental principles of PCC are (a) respect for patients' preferences, (b) integration of care, (c) education, (d) physical comfort, (e) emotional support, (f) family and friend involvement, (g) continuity and transition, and (h) access of care (Ratner & Pignone, 2019). These principles are essential to ensuring patients receive and are satisfied with the quality of care they receive.

PCC is becoming more critical with patients wanting more control over their health care. With aging populations, the occurrence of multi-morbidity is growing tremendously, and many experts expect this trend to continue (Kuipers et al., 2019). As the frequency of patients with multi-morbidity and chronic conditions continues to increase, the need for care centered around individual patients will also grow (Kuipers et al., 2019). Patients involved in their care are essential to better management of chronic health care (Lipovetski & Cojocaru, 2019). PCC, and co-creating care plans with patients specific to their needs, may contribute to better patient outcomes and higher levels of satisfaction related to the quality of care.

PCC focuses on care specific to each patient, and quality health care is always vital to each patient (Ratner & Pignone, 2019). Kowang et al. (2018) discussed service quality attributes and identified ten attributes instrumental to service quality:

- Tangibles: Physical aspects of the service received.
- Credibility: Trustworthiness, believability, and honesty of those providing the service.
- Access: Approachability and ease of contact. (Regarding hospitals, this may also pertain to the distance one is from the closest hospital.)
- Courtesy: Politeness, respect, consideration, and friendliness of the staff.
- Reliability: Consistency of performance and dependability of staff to do what is right.
- Responsiveness: Willingness or readiness of employees to provide service.
- Understanding the customer: Making the effort to understand the customer's needs.
- Communication: Keeping customers/patients informed and listening to them.
- Competence: Possession of the required skills and knowledge to perform the service.
- Security: the feeling of freedom from danger, risk, or doubt regarding services.

All these attributes impact patient satisfaction in much the same way PCC contributes to patient satisfaction.

Another aspect of PCC is making sure to offer culturally competent empathic care to patients. As the world becomes more diverse, cross-culture competency holds greater importance. This importance is further underscored as ethnic minority patients are more often patients with multi-morbidity, thus requiring higher PCC levels (Hopman et al., 2016). When nurses focus on cultural competence, patients not only trust the primary nurse more, but they are also more trustful of the hospital (Tang et al., 2019). Conversely, clinicians are more verbally dominant, less likely to build rapport, friendly, or concerned when interacting with ethnic minority patients compared to white patients (Lorié et al., 2017). PCC includes tailoring the care to the culture of the individual patient to ensure the patient feels they received the highest level of care.

Determining the best and more appropriate way to provide PCC for each patient can be difficult. There has been significant debate over whether patient satisfaction surveys are adequately able to fulfill the purpose of assessing aspects of quality to aid in improving the quality of care (Kowalski et al., 2017). Clinicians use a substantial amount of nonverbal communication, which is significantly necessary, particularly when interacting with cross-culture patients (Lorié et al., 2017). Nonverbal language is the only global universal language, and with California, and the United Stated becoming more culturally diverse, utilizing appropriate nonverbal language can be beneficial to improving PCC (Lorié et al., 2017). Providing high levels of PCC continues to be instrumental in increasing patient satisfaction scores.

PCC may help patients build trust with their providers more easily and experience higher satisfaction. Patients feel more accepted, less vulnerable, and are more open when nurses create a family like atmosphere (Laird et al., 2015). Creating a family like atmosphere within a nursing ward requires nurses to provide cross cultural care (Laird et al., 2015). In addition to nurses, doctors also play a significant role in developing trust with patients and building PCC. Similarly, to Laird et al. (2017), Dang et al. (2017) discovered that if doctors are open, honest, and include the patient in the care plan when patients are new, they can build trust more quickly. Patients may feel more satisfied with and trust their care providers more when they receive PCC, and patients who receive PCC recover at higher rates.

PCC also includes understanding the patient's current life situation. Empathy and responsiveness significantly influence the level of satisfaction patients experience (Ye et al., 2017). Doctors and nurses should consider and empathize with patient preferences and financial burdens when considering the most appropriate health care to incorporate into their treatment (Coulter et al., 2019). These actions can significantly reduce added stressors leading to improved patient outcomes (Coulter et al., 2019). When care providers are empathetic in their responsive care, patients may exhibit better recovery outcomes and experience higher levels of satisfaction.

Transition

In Section 1, I outlined the foundation of this study, the background of the problem, the problem and purpose statements, the main research question and associated hypothesis, a discussion of the S-PC theoretical framework, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations, the significance of this study, and the review of the academic and professional literature pertinent to this study. In Section 2, I present the research design for this quantitative correlation study. Section 2 includes a discussion about the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, study participants, research method, research design, population and sampling, ethical research, instrumentation, data collection technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity. In Section 3, I present the findings, application

to professional practice, implications for social change, further recommendations, and conclusions.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between nurse-to-patient ratios, patient satisfaction scores, and hospital profitability. The targeted population for this study was hospitals located in Southern California. The independent variables were nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores. The dependent variable was hospital profitability. The implications for social change included the potential to show hospital executives that better patient care is a leading contributing factor to hospital profitability. Hospitals that increase nurse staff to improve nurse-to-patient ratios have significantly better patient outcomes, which lead to higher patient loyalty (Driscoll et al., 2018). Better patient care and outcomes are important to social change because people who have better health care tend to live a better quality of life (Driscoll et al., 2018).

Role of the Researcher

The primary function of a quantitative researcher is to collect, analyze, and present research data that their reader can understand and use in the business world (Marshall & Rossman, 2013). In a quantitative study, the goal of the researcher is to generalize information from the population by using a statistically significant sample size from the population (Wester et al., 2013). The focus of a quantitative researcher is to statistically measure independent variables to determine whether the null hypothesis is supported or rejected and whether a correlation is supported (Landrum & Garza, 2015). In the current study, I used secondary data from HCAHPS surveys administered by hospitals and reported on the cms.gov website that pertained to the independent variables to examine the statistical relationship between the independent and dependent variables. The outcomes from the statistical measurements supported my null hypothesis and refuted my alternative hypothesis.

As Snowden (2014) discussed, a research study must be ethical to be relevant. Researcher's prior experiences could aid them in their research efforts (Leedy & Ormrod, 2016). My professional experience included 9 years of accounting in the health care industry, which provided me with inside knowledge of what correlations may exist. I had no direct contact with the participants during this study, as I relied on secondary data.

Finally, *The Belmont Report* covers three main ethical principles, which include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects and Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Protecting human participants in research from maltreatment or abuse from the researcher is the objective of the Belmont Report (Friesen et al., 2017). I adhered to the protocols outlined in The Belmont Report by commencing data collection only after Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved my study (06-01-21-0753083).

Participants

I did not use human participants. The use of secondary data affords accessibility and offers convenience to researchers (Hennebel et al., 2015). Pollanen et al. (2016) also stated that secondary data provides researchers a substitute to collecting and evaluating large data sets. I used secondary data, and for that reason there were no primary data collected from participants. Hospital staff send surveys to patients discharged from their hospitals; when surveys are returned to the hospital, the survey data are submitted to CMS (Dor et al., 2015). The secondary data used for the current study came from an archival government database that publishes hospital data for the public, which I accessed via their websites. Access to the websites (www.CMS.gov, data.medicare.gov) is not restricted because the information is available to the public.

Research Method

Academic scholarly researchers have clustered research methods into three categories: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Saunders et al., 2015). Hannes et al. (2015) explained how researchers use the quantitative method to assess existing relationships among numeric variables. McCusker and Gunavdin (2015) also described quantitative research as a tool researchers use to gain an understanding of underlying reasons and motivations. In the current study, I examined the relationship between variables; therefore, the quantitative method was appropriate.

When interaction with human participants is needed, qualitative methodology is appropriate (H. P. O. Santos et al., 2014). When looking to discover participants' point of view, qualitative methodology is appropriate (Wilson et al., 2016). Rennie (2012) discussed how qualitative research encompasses collection and analysis of documented data through observation or interaction with participants. In the current study, there was no interaction with human participants to obtain data; therefore, qualitative methodology was not appropriate.

In addition to qualitative and quantitative methods, researchers can also choose the mixed-methods approach (Yin, 2018). The mixed-methods approach encompasses both quantitative and qualitative methods while meeting all requirements from both methods (Yin, 2018). McCusker and Gunavdin (2015) discussed that researchers use mixed methods to examine a phenomenon while collecting supporting data to provide a more complete understanding of the phenomenon. Using mixed methods may provide a greater benefit but was outside the scope of the current study, which involved examination of secondary quantitative data. Therefore, the qualitative and mixedmethods approaches were not appropriate for this study.

Research Design

I used the correlational design because it best supported the analysis of the relationship between the two independent variables and one dependent variable. There are three quantitative research designs: (a) experimental, (b) correlational, and (c) descriptive survey (Vannest & Ninci, 2015). Simons et al. (2014) explained that researchers use an experimental design to measure the effect of a change in a variable through a process of manipulation. I did not manipulate data in the current study, and therefore the experimental design was not appropriate.

Humphreys and Jacobs (2015) stated that researchers use descriptive techniques to define characteristics of a population or a set of variables. Ploutz-Snyder et al. (2014) showed that the descriptive research method is appropriate when a researcher is attempting to find the mean, median, and mode. Descriptive measurements were not part of my hypothesis testing. Therefore, a descriptive research design was not appropriate. Correlational designs are appropriate when examining issues not addressed during experimental research (Humphreys & Jacobs, 2015). Zuo and Xing (2014) also stated that correlational research is appropriate when researchers examine relationships between two or more variables. My research question addressed the relationship between independent and dependent variables; therefore, a correlational design was appropriate for this study.

Population and Sampling

The sample size for this study was 74 hospitals located in Southern California. The sample was a convenience sample rather than a random sample. A convenience sample is a nonprobabilistic sample that involves the researcher using the most convenient participants accessible for gathering data for the study (Gray, 2018). There is an ease and cost effectiveness to convenience sampling; however, convenience sampling can add a level of difficulty to generalizing sample results to the larger population (Babbie, 2013). I used the data.medicare.gov website to extract data for for-profit hospitals in Southern California. The data.medicare.gov website provides data for all Medicare hospitals in the United States and allows the user to set filters to narrow their search by state, hospital type, and ownership. The filters I used were California, forprofit, and all ownership types. From the hospitals within my population, I used an appropriate sample size to obtain a 95% confidence rate with two independent variables.

Faul et al. (2007) discussed the usefulness of the G*Power software in helping to analyze data for research. I used the free G*Power 3.1.9.4 software to determine that the appropriate sample size for a linear multiple regression with a confidence of 95% was 74. The purpose of focusing on Southern California was because of my geographical location as well to strengthen the quality of the study and increase the likelihood that the hospital executives would be able to use the findings from this study. Spielman et al. (2014) discussed the importance of geographic location for studies to increase the quality of the results due to different economic patterns for different geographic locations. Figure 1 provides the information used to calculate the appropriate sample size using the G*Power statistical software.

Figure 1



A Priori Sample Size (N=74) Generated Using G*Power Software

Ethical Research

A research study must meet an acceptable code of conduct, social adaptability, and legal requirements (Yin, 2018). A research study must also be ethical to be considered relevant (Snowden, 2014). Prior to collecting any data for this study, I completed CITI human subject protection training and received IRB approval 06-01-21-0753083 to collect data. In this study, I obtained all data from public government sites and databases. Understanding that privacy is important, I assigned a unique number for each hospital (H1, H2, H3) rather than their name to maintain confidentiality. I used a password-protected Excel file to store the cross-referenced information used to identify the hospitals. The Excel file included the unique number used in the study with the demographics from each hospital. All data used in this study were publicly available; therefore, there was no need to acquire consent. I met all integrity of data requirements by using a government-sponsored website to obtain the data.

During the data selection process, it is possible to create bias (Beslin & Tasic, 2012). Prior to acquiring the number of hospitals needed to meet my sample size, I first obtained data for all hospitals meeting my criteria. Once I gathered all needed data for all hospitals, I used a separate Excel file to list the unique numbers for each hospital. In this separate Excel file, I used a random sampling function to further minimize any chance of bias and meet requirements for sample size. I will store all research data in a password-protected file for 5 years. I will destroy all data at the end of the 5 years by deleting all files associated with the study and making sure to empty the recycling bin on the computer.

Instrumentation

For this study, I extracted data from the CMS website. The specific information I used for this study was hospital compare (HC) and health care cost report information (HCRIS) data files (see Appendix). The independent variables for this study were patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratios. The patient satisfaction score was an ordinal variable, and the nurse-to-patient ratio was a ratio variable. The patient satisfaction scores included the results from the HCAHPS surveys by CMS, and the nurse-to-patient ratios of nurses to patients provided by each hospital

based on their average staffing and the number of patients in their hospital. The HC and HCRIS data files allowed me to see the financial impact of patient satisfaction because the HC files focused on quality-of-care metrics and the HCRIS files included a portion of the annual cost reports, including hospital characteristics and financial statement data (CMS, 2019c, 2019b).

Researchers have used the CMS data to answer different quantitative questions. Cline (2018) found a positive but insignificant relationship between hospital surgical volume, surgical case mix, and profitability using the CMS data. Glover (2019) found a significant positive relationship between nursing resource, uncompensated care, hospital profitability, and quality of care. I pulled data for all 202 hospitals in Southern California and cross-checked the data files for HC and HCRIS to identify which hospitals had complete files. Because I used secondary data, I subjected the secondary data to rigorous statistical computation to minimize the threat to validity. From the number of hospitals that had complete files for both data sets, I pulled a random sample of hospitals needed to reach my appropriate sample size.

Data Collection Technique

The data collection technique for my study consisted of pulling previously reported data from databases on government websites. The information listed on data.medicare.gov becomes available after 2 years due to the time it takes for the data to be organized and uploaded. CMS collects the information that is posted publicly on their website for their own purposes; therefore, the information I used was secondary data. Secondary data are acceptable for research (Taber, 2017).

Because the process of collecting data occurred over time and required searches for different criteria, I created a login for the data.medicare.gov website; this allowed me to save my search criteria to ensure I was always performing the same search to retrieve data. The independent variables for my research were patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratio, so I first pulled data on both patient satisfaction scores and nurseto-patient ratios for all hospitals in California. From the original Excel file, I created a copy Excel file and filtered down the data to include only the 202 for-profit hospitals in Southern California. The third and final Excel file started as a copy of the second Excel file. Then I removed any hospitals that did not have data for both independent variables for the year of financial data I covered in this study. Finally, I obtained the financial data for the hospitals that were selected from the random sample formula I used in Excel to obtain the necessary hospitals needed for the sample size. Public for-profit hospitals file a Form 10-K annually to inform investors of their financial position. I used the Net Income number listed on the consolidated statement of operations within the Form 10-K to obtain the hospitals' financial data.

Data Analysis

Research Question

Does a linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores significantly predict hospital profitability?

Hypotheses

 H_0 : The linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores does not significantly predict hospital profitability.

 H_a : The linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores significantly predicts hospital profitability.

The data came from government databases that are populated every year with current and accurate information. Pulling the data from a government database aided in the data cleaning process. The secondary data I used were the standard in the health care industry for decision making. To guard against threats to validity, I subjected the secondary data to rigorous statistical computations and data cleaning. First, I ensured that only hospitals that met my criteria were included in the population I pulled the random sample from. Next, I listed all hospitals in alphabetical order in Excel and used Excel formula "=INDEX(\$A\$2:\$A\$10,RANDBETWEEN(1,COUNTA(\$A\$2:\$A\$10)),1)" to pull random names from the list of hospitals. Once I pulled enough names needed for a substantial sample size (a 95% confidence interval was used to calculate my sample size), I searched for any duplicates. I removed any duplicates found and repeated the process of pulling random names. I also ensured that all hospitals selected had complete sets of data by removing the few hospitals that were chosen that had incomplete data and selecting new random hospitals to replace them. Finally, I used the IBM SPSS Version 24 software to perform data analysis, as recommended by Tabachnick and Fidell (2019). To ensure replicability, I used an alpha of .05 (see Cronbach, 1951). Having an alpha of 0.05 means there is a 5% chance that no statistically significant relationship exists between the variables (Cronbach, 1951).

Multiple regression analysis is a set of statistical calculations used to evaluate the relationship between one dependent variable and multiple independent variables

(Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019). I also considered using an analysis of variance (ANOVA) and chi-square statistical tests. ANOVA and chi-square statistical tests are most appropriately used to determine if observed data from a sample is different from what is expected by chance alone. While multiple regression analysis is most appropriately used to explain the relationship between one dependent variable and multiple independent variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019). Both ANOVA and chi-square use interval level measurements, which was not applicable for this study, and thus less appropriate.

The statistical test I used for this study is a multiple linear regression analysis. Multiple linear regression analysis is a predictive analysis used to examine the relationship between one dependent variable and two or more independent variables (Yin, 2018). I planned to use the bootstrapping method if assumptions were violated to provide an empirical sampling distribution and allow for statistical inferences, however, fortunately assumptions were not violated, and bootstrapping was not needed.

There are four key assumptions required for multiple linear regression analysis. The four assumptions are (a) normality, (b) linearity, (c) multicollinearity, and (d) homoscedascity (Ernst & Albers, 2017). Researchers need to check the scatter plot of data points and establish the correlation coefficient for the data set to determine if a linear relationship exists between the independent and dependent variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019). Once I compiled all the data, I examined the scatter plot of the data points and the correlation coefficients and found that the independent variables did not correlate to the dependent variable. A perfect correlation equals one, a correlation coefficient of .50 to .99 is a strong relationship, a correlation coefficient of .30 to .49 is a medium relationship, and a correlation coefficient of .01 to .30 is a weak relationship (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019). Using the same scale on the negative side, and the correlation coefficient must be close to a negative one to support the null hypothesis (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019).

A typical issue while performing multiple regression analyses can be collinearity. Although there is no precise definition of collinearity, most researchers agree that collinearity exists if there is an approximate linear relationship among some of the predicter variables in the data (Morrissey & Ruxton, 2018). Homoscedasticity occurs when all random variables have the same determinate variance (Yang et al., 2019). I calculated the residual value for each data point observed to ensure that the scatter plot is homoscedastic. Although I used the ANOVA test to look for normality, I also used the Ftest to search for homoscedasticity. Multicollinearity can be detected by examining the tolerance $(1-R^2)$ for each independent variable and can be resolved if encountered by combining the highly correlated variables through principal component analysis (Daoud, 2017).

In addition to correlation coefficients and other inferential statistics, I calculated the effect size (ES). Ainur et al. (2017) described ES as the difference between two means divided by the standard deviation of either group. Both independent variables, patient satisfaction scores and nurse/patient ratio, are measured as a ratio I did not use the odds ratio. I reviewed a scatter plot of the data points and confirmed that the data was normally distributed. The first step is to graph a straight line for the cumulative normal density function. Then plot the data on the graph after normalizing it using the mean and standard deviation. Once I plotted all data points, I interpreted how closely the data points fell on the cumulative normal density function line. Ainur et al. (2017) pointed out that if the data does not fit closely to the line, then the data may be a non-normal distribution and the use of a tool similar to the Johnson translation system would help to normalize the data set. However, in this study, each independent variable was able to fit into a normal distribution.

Study Validity

Study validity is an imperative aspect of all research as it reflects the usefulness and strength of the study and the findings (Li et al., 2017). Researchers need to ensure their research is valid to ensure it proves useful in the business world (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019). Internal and external validity are the two types of validity that must be met (Rubin & Babbie, 2016). The goal of this study was to provide hospital executives with useful information that can improve the hospital's quality of care and profitability.

External validity referrers to the ability to generalize the findings of one study to other study populations (Quaife et al., 2018). External validity cannot be assumed, and to establish generalizability (external validity), the researcher must ask three key questions, (a) what is the operational measure, (b) is the sample representative of other populations, and (c) are the participants similar (Quaife et al., 2018). An appropriate sample size is needed to ensure generalizability for the research findings to transfer to a larger population (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019). In this study, the only factor that posed a threat

to external validity was the geographical boundary. I only pulled an appropriate sample from the population of hospitals in Southern California, so there may be an ecological threat to this study but as with any study, I sacrificed this small chance of external validity to increase the internal validity. Additionally, if other studies focusing on other geographical areas pull the sample size percentage as this study, that would help to reduce geological threat to external validity for this study. Using G*Power 3.1.9.4, I calculated that a sample size of 74 is necessary to obtain a 95% confidence.

Internal validity focuses on the credibility and causal relationship (cause and effect) of a study (Suzanne et al., 2019). Losh (2017) discussed that threats to internal validity are threats to causal control and that confounded variables, variables that measure more than one entity, pose the largest threat to internal validity. The goal of this study was to show association and correlation, not causation. For that reason, no significant threats to internal validity exist for this study. I used Excel to perform a simple random sample, which also enhanced external validity. A simple random sample is a form of probability sampling, which offers greater confidence in the representativeness of the population (Landreneau, 2019).

It is crucial as a researcher to ensure there are not any type I errors. Type I errors are also known as false positives. Type I errors occur if an alternative hypothesis (see a difference) is accepted, although the result is explained by chance (no statistically significant difference) (Norman et al., 2017). To ensure the minimization of type I errors, researchers maintain statistical conclusion validity (Norman et al., 2017). Statistical conclusion validity is the implication of the correlation between the independent and dependent variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019). Risks to statistical conclusion validity could comprise of low dependability of measures, random diversity of cases, and low statistical power (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019).

The best way to alleviate concerns regarding statistical conclusion validity is to use multiple statistical analysis tools (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019). In this study, I used a 95% confidence probability. A confidence probability of 95% will increase the sample size and improve validity (Varoquaux, 2018). The focus of the study is a defined sample population of hospitals in Southern California, which should reduce the risk of outliers. Lastly, the actual data came from a reliable source of U.S. government databases, improving the accuracy of the data used in the quantitative analysis.

Transition

In Section 2, I provided an outline for the possible relationship between nurse-topatient ratio, patient satisfaction scores, and the profitability of hospitals by covering my research methods, research design, discussing the population and sampling for the study, data collection instruments and techniques, data analysis, and the study validity. In Section 3, I present my findings from the analytics I performed, discuss the application for professional practice, implications for social change, and discuss recommendations for action and further research. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between nurse-to-patient ratios, patient satisfaction scores, and hospital profitability. The targeted population for this study was hospitals located in Southern California. The independent variables were nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores. The dependent variable was hospital profitability. This study included 74 hospitals in the Southern California region. In this study, the null hypothesis was accepted, and the alternative hypothesis was rejected. Patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratios do not correlate to hospital profitability.

Presentation of Findings

In this subsection, I discuss testing assumptions, present descriptive statistics, present inferential statistics results, discuss the findings, and conclude with a summary. The research question for this study was the following: Does a linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores significantly predict hospital profitability?" My alternative hypothesis was that a linear combination of nurse-to-patient satisfaction scores would significantly predict hospital profitability. My null hypothesis was that a linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores would significantly predict hospital profitability. My null hypothesis was that a linear combination of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction scores would not significantly predict hospital profitability. The results from this analysis did not support rejecting the null hypothesis.

There are several possible reasons why I did not find a significant relationship between hospital quality and financial performance: (a) the small sample size and geographical limitations of the data, (b) data collection occurring during the COVID-19 pandemic, and (c) additional explanatory variables needed to isolate the variation and relationship between the variables. A key area this study did not include was expenses. Welsh (2019) focused on hospital expenses and encountered five cost areas (private room costs, semiprivate room costs, intensive care unit costs, pharmacy costs, and medical supply costs) that accounted for 63% of hospital total cost. Hospitals can increase their profitability by increasing their efficiency; keeping nurses on staff longer reduces cost associated with training and helps nurses become more efficient in their job (Lu et al., 2019; Ly & Cutler, 2018; Roghani & Chenari, 2017).

Descriptive Statistics

I ran descriptive statistics for 74 hospitals. Table 2 contains descriptive statistics of the study variables.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics of the Independent and Dependent Variables	
---	--

Variable	М	SD	Min.	Max	Ν
Patient satisfaction scores	2.19	.917	1	5	74
Nurse-to-patient ratio	3.1276	1.2269	0.87	7.13	74
Profitability (1–5)	2.53	1.397	1	5	74

Tests of Assumptions

In this study, I evaluated the assumptions of multicollinearity, outliers, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals.

Multicollinearity

I evaluated multicollinearity by viewing the correlation coefficients among the predictor variables. All bivariate correlations were small to medium (see Table 2); therefore, the violation of the assumption of multicollinearity was not evident. Table 3 contains the correlation coefficients.

Table 3

Nurse-to-patient		
ratio		
0.031		
0.378		
1.00		

Correlation Coefficient of the Variables

Outliers, Normality, Linearity, and Homoscedasticity

I reviewed outliers and the assumptions of normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity by examining the normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residual (see Figure 2) and the scatterplot of the standardized residuals (see Figure 3). Analyzing the figures revealed no significant violations of multicollinearity, outliers, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals. The propensity of the points to lie in a relatively straight line (see Figure 2), diagonal from the bottom left to the top right, presented supporting evidence that the assumption of normality had not been violated. The lack of a transparent or systematic pattern in the scatterplot of the standardized residuals (see Figure 3) indicated there was no correlation between the independent and dependent variables.

Figure 2







Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



Figure 3

Scatterplot of the Standardized Residuals



Inferential Results

Standard multiple linear regression, $\alpha = .05$ (two-tailed), was used to examine the relationship between the effectiveness of patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratio and hospital profitability. The independent variables were patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratios. The dependent variable was hospital profitability. The null hypothesis was that patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratio would not significantly predict hospital profitability. The alternative hypothesis was that patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratio would significantly predict hospital profitability.

Preliminary analyses were conducted to assess whether the assumptions of multicollinearity, outliers, normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity were met; no serious violations were noted. The model was not able to significantly predict hospital profitability. The R^2 (0.013) value indicated that roughly 1% of variation in hospital profitability was accounted for by the linear combination of the predictor variables (patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratios). As shown in Tables 4–6, the impact of each independent variable on the dependent variable, holding everything else constant, was essentially zero.

Table 4

Model	Sum of Square	df	Mean	F	Sig.
			Square		
Regression	1.335	2	6.675	.146	.864 ^b
Residual	3.242	71	4.566		
Total	3.255	73			

Summary of the Regression Results

a. Dependent variable: Profitability

b. Predictors: Nurse-to-patient ratio, Patient Satisfaction

Table 5

Model Summary of the Regression

Model	R	R Squared	Adjusted <i>R</i> Squared	Std. Error of Estimate	R Square Change	F Change	df1	df2	Sig. F Change
1	.064ª	.013	024	21368141. 437	.004	.146	2	71	.864

Table 6

Coefficient Estimates from the Regression

	Unstandardized Coefficients		standardized	Correlations				
Model	В	Std. error	coefficients beta	t	Sig.	Zero- order	Partial	Part
Constant	15372610.968	7849711.626		1.958	.054			
Patient satisfaction # (1-5)	1145331.983	2946722.641	.050	.389	.699	.026	.046	.046
Nurse-to- patient ratio	-1089695.365	2201743.207	063	495	.622	045	059	059

Analysis Summary

I examined the relationship between nurse-to-patient ratios, patient satisfaction scores, and hospital profitability. I used standard multiple linear regression to examine the possible correlation between patient satisfaction scores, nurse-to-patient ratio, and hospital profitability. Assumptions of multiple regression analyses were assessed, with no serious violations noted. The model was not able to significantly predict hospital profitability, $R^2 = .013$. Both patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratios did not significantly correlate to hospital profitability. The conclusion from this analysis is that patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratios are not significantly associated with hospital profitability. This study included only two of the many factors included in profitability; without any way to hold all other factors consistent among hospitals, there was not enough information to significantly predict profitability.

Simmons (2016) used the S-PC framework to show a correlation between CRM system use, customer satisfaction, and gross revenue for North American industrial service companies. CRM systems could be used in hospitals to better manage nurse-to-patient ratios because customer satisfaction is the same as patient satisfaction in industries other than health care, and gross revenue is one way to evaluate profitability. Simmons's findings indicated a correlation between patient satisfaction, nurse-to-patient ratio, and hospital profitability. Similar to Simmons's study, Akinleye et al. (2019) discovered a decisive relationship between hospital financial performance and hospital quality performance scores. Hospital financial performance is equivalent to hospital profitability, and hospital quality performance could be a result of combining high nurse-
to-patient ratios and high patient satisfaction scores. Akinleye et al.'s findings also suggest that there is a correlation between patient satisfaction scores and hospital profitability.

Application to Professional Practice

The results of this study may prove valuable to health care leaders. Although this study did not show a correlation between patient satisfaction scores, nurse-to-patient ratio, and hospital profitability, the results of this study in conjunction with future research, may prove valuable to hospital leaders with information about how to improve the profitability of their hospitals. Hospital leaders typically focus on the profitability and success of the hospital they work for, improving nurse-to-patient ratios reduces the number of deaths in hospitals by 2.3 per every 1,000 patients (Kowalski et al., 2017). Similar to Kowalski et al., Carlisle et al. (2020) discovered that adding one full time nurse would reduce ICU mortality by 9%. Also, increasing nursing staff also helps nurses enjoy their jobs more and quit less (Bakhamis et al., 2019), which would make those hospitals more desirable.

With information readily available, patients can investigate information like patient satisfaction scores of their surrounding hospitals. Hospital leaders need to fully understand the relationship patients directly have to hospital profitability (Hultman, 2020; Oakley, 2012). The more a patient feels they were treated with dignity and respect, the more likely they are to spread positive word of mouth, be returning customers (loyal), as well as pay their bills once they receive them (Hultman, 2020). It is imperative for hospital leaders to understand that patients are more likely to feel safer and experience higher satisfaction when they trust the individuals taking care of them, thus hospital leaders should invest in cultural competence for nurses (Tang et al., 2019). The additional literature reviewed in this study showed that there is at a minimum a correlation between patients, staff, and profitability, although additional research is likely needed in the areas of nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction. Hospital leaders should encourage and aid in future research to gain a more thorough understanding of this relationship.

Implications for Social Change

Although this study did not show a correlation between patient satisfaction scores, nurse-to-patient ratios, and hospital profitability, better nurse-to-patient ratios and higher patient satisfaction scores could contribute to the social well-being of hospital patients and surrounding communities (Driscoll et al., 2018). Continued research concerning the impact patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratios have on hospital profitability while holding other factors constant, could help hospital leaders better understand the importance of the relationship between patient satisfaction scores, nurse-to-patient ratios, and hospital profitability. Focusing on improving nurse-to-patient ratios and patient satisfaction would improve the health of the individuals in the community and produce a positive social impact.

Recommendations for Action

I recommend that additional research on patient satisfaction scores, nurse-topatient ratio, and hospital profitability before any implementations are done. The results of this study as well as results from additional studies concerning the profitability of hospitals are essential to hospital leaders. Hospital leaders should encourage additional research in this area to better understand the relationship between patient satisfaction scores, nurse-to-patient ratios, and hospital profitability. As previously discussed, Lu et al. (2019) concluded that keeping nurses on staff longer reduces the costs associated with training new staff and increased the quality of care. Hospital leaders need to invest to software to monitor the number of nurses on staff more closely, number of hospital beds filled, and the patient satisfaction scores they are receiving. Focusing on quality of care for patients and working conditions for nurses will financially benefit hospitals. The results of this study will be published publicly through Walden University, additionally, I will share with family, friends, and prospective future employers who could benefit from this study.

Recommendations for Further Research

This study was limited because it only focused on hospitals in Southern California, I am a novice researcher, and only patient satisfaction scores and nurse-topatient ratio were considered regarding hospital profitability. Future research could include other factors concerning hospital profitability to strengthen the study and researchers may also want to include a larger geographical area. Future studies could include additional expenses into their research that closely relate to patient satisfaction scores as well as nurse-to-patient ratio. Additionally, future researchers could try to standardize many other factors influencing profitability, allowing patient satisfaction and nurse-to-patient ratios to hold more influence on profitability. I believe aligning multiple variables that encompass revenue and expenses would result in a more substantial study that may prove more useful to hospital leaders and the business community.

Reflections

In this study, I examined the relationship between patient satisfaction scores, nurse-to-patient ratios, and hospital profitability. I learned a considerable amount regarding the research process as well as all that is needed to provide quality information to the public. Before conducting this research, I felt strongly that patient satisfaction scores and nurse-to-patient ratios would strongly correlate to hospital profitability. I believe that preconception came from my firm belief in customer service within healthcare. Now that I have completed this research study, my eyes are more open to the fact that although some things may be necessary, multiple factors are needed to reach a whole conclusion.

Conclusion

This quantitative correlational study used S-PC as the theoretical framework to guide the research. Numerous additional studies were reviewed that showed associated relationships between nursing staff, patient satisfaction, and hospital performance/profitability. While this study did not find any significant correlation between patient satisfaction, nurse-to-patient ratio, and hospital profitability, through the extensive literature reviewed, it is clear patient satisfaction and nursing staff are important factors. Patients deserve superior care and an excellent experience while in hospitals. Thus, hospital leaders owe it to their future patients to continue searching for evidence that aids the change that is necessary.

References

Ainur, A. K., Sayang, M. D., Jannoo, Z., & Yap, B. W. (2017). Sample size and nonnormality effects on goodness of fit measures in structural equation models. *Pertanika Journal of Science & Technology*, 25(2), 575–585.
<u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Ainur-</u> <u>Amira/publication/299430159_Sample_Size_and_Non-</u> normality Effects on Goodness of Fit Measures in Structural Equation Mod el/links/59116e5d458515bbcb8de257/Sample-Size-and-Non-normality-Effectson-Goodness-of-Fit-Measures-in-Structural-Equation-Model.pdf

- Akinleye, D. D., McNutt, L. A., Lazariu, V., & McLaughlin, C. C. (2019). Correlation between hospital finances and quality and safety of patient care. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(8), 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0219124</u>
- Al-Harajin, R. S., Al-Subaie, S. A., & Elzubair, A. G. (2019). The association between waiting time and patient satisfaction in outpatient clinics: Findings from a tertiary care hospital in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Family & Community Medicine*, 26(1), 17–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333392819861246
- AlRamadin, M. (2019). Strategies to mitigate negative results of supply chain disruption [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies.
- Arsita, R., & Idris, H. (2019). The relationship of hospital cost, service quality, and patient satisfaction. *Journal Iimu Kesehatan Masyarakat*, 10(2), 132–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.26553/jikm.2019.10.2.132-138</u>

Babbie, E. (2013). *Practice of social research* (13th ed.). Wadsworth Cengage Learning.

- Bakhamis, L., Paul, D., Smith, H., & Coustasse, A. (2019). Still an epidemic: The burnout syndrome in hospital registered nurses. *Health Care Manager*, 38(1), 3–10. <u>https://doi:10.1097/HCM.0000000000243</u>
- Baumann, C., Elliott, G., & Burton, S. (2012). Modeling customer satisfaction and loyalty: Survey data versus data mining. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 26(3), 148–157. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/08876041211223951</u>
- Benton, W. C. (2013). A profitability evaluation of America's best hospitals, 2000-2008. Decision Sciences, 44(6), 1139–1153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/deci.12051</u>
- Berhane, A., & Enquselassie, F. (2016). Patient expectations and their satisfaction in the context of public hospitals. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, 10, 1919–1928. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S109982</u>
- Beslin, F. M., & Tasic, T. (2012). Errors and issues in secondary data used in marketing research. *Socioeconomica*, 1(2), 10–22.
- Bichescu, B. C., Bradley, R. V., Smith, A. L., & Wei, W. (2018). Benefits and implications of competing on process excellence: Evidence from California hospitals. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 202(1), 59–68.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2018.05.013
- Blouin, A. S., & Podjasek, K. (2019). The continuing saga of nurse staffing historical and emerging challenges. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 49(4), 221–227. <u>https://cookcountyhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/SP-discussion-Nursing-article-</u> 3-04-16-19.pdf

Brennan, N. B. (2014). Better scheduling technology leads to better patient care. *Nursing Management*, 45(12), 23–24.

https://doi.org/10.1097/01.numa.0000456658.10027.62

- Brewer, B. B., & Watson, J. (2015). Evaluation of authentic human caring professional practices. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 45(12), 622–627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/nna.00000000000275</u>
- Briggs, E., Deretti, S., & Kato, H. T. (2020). Linking organizational service orientation to retailer profitability: Insights from the service-profit chain. *Journal of Business Research*, 107, 271–278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.08.038</u>
- Carlisle, B., Perera, A., Stutzman, S., Brown-Cleere, S., Parwaiz, A., & Olson, D. (2020).
 Efficacy of using available data to examine nurse staffing ratios and quality of care metrics. *Journal of Neuroscience Nursing*, 52(2), 78–83.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/jnn.000000000000499
- Casey, M. M., Moscovice, I., Holmes, G. M., Pink, G. H., & Hung, P. (2015). Minimumdistance requirements could harm high performing critical-access hospitals and rural communities. *Health Affairs*, 34(4), 627–635.

https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0788

Census Bureau. (2017). *Population and housing unit estimates datasets*. <u>https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/popest/data/data-</u> sets.2017.List 1725564412.html Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2019a). Critical access hospitals.

https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-

Certification/CertificationandComplianc/CAHs

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2019b). HCRIS frequently asked questions.

https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Downloadable-

Public-Use-Files/Cost-Reports/DOCS/HCRIS-FAQ.pdf

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2019c). What is hospital compare?

https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-

Instruments/HospitalQualityInits/HospitalCompare

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2020). HCAHPS: Patients' perspectives of

care survey. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-

Assessment-Instruments/HospitalQualityInits/HospitalHCAHPS

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2020). Quality Measures.

https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-

Instruments/QualityMeasures

Chandrasekar, M. R., & Thangaraj, B. (2021). Patients perception towards quality of service of top 5 multi specialty hospitals in Coimbatore. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(5), 869–875. <u>https://www.bibliomed.org/mnsfulltext/218/218-</u>

1613290816.pdf?1634483352

Chang, E. K., Shin, J.-S., Lee, J., Lee, Y. J., Kim, M.-R., Choi, A., Park, K. B., Lee, H.-J., Ha, I.-H. (2017). "Quality of medical service, patient satisfaction and loyalty with a focus on interpersonal-based medical service encounters and treatment effectiveness: A cross-sectional multicenter study of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) hospitals." BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine 17(1), 174–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-017-1691-6</u>

 Chargualaf, M. J., Giao, T. T., Abrahamson, A. C., Steeb, D., Law, M., Bates, J., Nedi, T., & Muluneh, B. (2019). Layered learning pharmacy practice model in Ethiopia. *Journal of Oncology Pharmacy Practice*, 25(7), 1699–1704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1078155218820105</u>

- Chen, Y., Guo, Y. L., Chin, W., Cheng, N., Ho, J., & Shiao, J. S. (2019). Patient-nurse ratio is related to nurses' intention to leave their job through mediating factors of burnout and job dissatisfaction. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 16(23), 1–14. https://dx.doi.org/10.3390%2Fijerph16234801
- Chisholm, L., Weech-Maldonado, R., Landry, A. Y., & Epané, J. P. (2015). The presence of hospital-based palliative care programs: A resource dependence perspective. *Health Care Management Review*, 40(4), 356–362.

https://doi.org/10.1097/hmr.000000000000011

- Cho, N. E., & Hong, K. (2018). A kitchen with too many cooks: Factors associated with hospital profitability. *Sustainability*, 10(2), 322–336. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10020323</u>
- Cho, S.-H., Mark, B. A., Knafl, G., Chang, H., & Yoon, H. (2017). Relationships between nurse staffing and patients' experiences, and the mediating effects of missed nursing care. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 49(3), 347–355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12292</u>

Chougule, R., Khare, V. R., & Pattada, K. (2013). A fuzzy logic based approach for modeling quality and reliability related customer satisfaction in the automotive domain. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 40, 800–810. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2012.08.032

Christina, M., Julie, S., Erin, P., & Cynthia, N. (2020). A balancing act: Managing workload while improving nurse and patient satisfaction. *Journal of Gastroenterology Nursing*, 43(4), 298–302.

https://doi.org/10.1097/sga.00000000000446

- Chung, S., Lesser, L. I., Lauderdale, D. S., Johns, N. E., Palaniappan, L. P., & Luft, H. S. (2015). Medicare annual preventive care visits: Use increased among fee-forservice patients, but many do not participate. *Health Affairs*, 34, 11–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0483</u>
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70(3), 473–475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12163</u>
- Cline, K. M. (2018). Hospital surgical volume, surgical case mix, and profitability [Doctoral dissertation, Texas A&M]. ProQuest Information & Learning

Coulter, I. D., Herman, P. M., Ryan, G. W., Hilton, L. J., & Hays, R. D. (2019). The challenge of determining appropriate care in the era of patient-centered care and rising health care costs. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 24(3), 201–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1355819618815521</u>

- Creixans-Tenas, J., & Arimany-Serrat, N. (2018). Influential variables on the profitability of hospital companies. *Intangible Capital*, *14*(1), 171–185. http://dx.doi.org/10.3926/ic.1109
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika*, *16*, 297–334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02310555</u>
- Damberg, C. L., Elliott, M. N., & Ewing, B. A. (2015). Pay-for-performance schemes that use patient and provider categories would reduce payment disparities. *Health Affairs*, *34*, 134–142. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0386
- Dang, B. N., Westbrook, R. A., Njue, S. M., & Giordano, T. P. (2017). Building trust and rapport early in the new doctor-patient relationship: A longitudinal qualitative study. *BMC Medical Education*, *17*(1), 32–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-017-0868-5</u>
- Daoud, J. I. (2017, December). Multicollinearity and regression analysis. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 949(1), 12009.
 https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/link_gateway/2017JPhCS.949a2009D/doi:10.1088/1742-6596/949/1/012009
- Delen, D., Kuzey, C., & Uyar, A. (2013). Measuring firm performance using financial ratios: A decision tree approach. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 40, 3970–3983. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2013.01.012</u>
- Dor, A., Encinosa, W., & Carey, K. (2015). Medicare's hospital compare quality reports appear to have slowed price increases for two major procedures. *Health Affairs*, 34(1), 71–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0263</u>

 Doyle, G., Kelly, R., & O'Donohoe, S. (2016). Resource dependence as a mechanism for survival: The case of the Mater Misericordiae University Hospital. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary & Nonprofit Organizations, 27*(4), 1871–1893. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bar.2017.12.001</u>

Driscoll, A., Grant, M. J., Carroll, D., Dalton, S., Deaton, C., Jones, I., Lehwaldt, D.,
McKee, G., Munyombwe, T., & Astin, F. (2018). The effect of nurse-to-patient ratios on nurse-sensitive patient outcomes in acute specialist units: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 17(1), 6–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1474515117721561</u>

Elliott, M. N., Cohea, C. W., Lehrman, W. G., Goldstein, E. H., Cleary, P. D., Giordano,
L. A., & Zaslavsky, A. M. (2015). Accelerating improvement and narrowing
gaps: Trends in patients' experiences with hospital care reflected in HCAHPS
public reporting. *Health Services Research*, *50*, 1850–1867.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12305

Ernst, A. F., & Albers, C. J. (2017). Regression assumptions in clinical psychology research practice—a systematic review of common misconceptions. *PeerJ*, 5, 1– 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3323</u>

Evanschitzky, H., Groening, C., Mittal, V., & Wunderlich, M. (2011). How employer and employee satisfaction affect customer satisfaction: An application to franchise services. *Journal of Service Research*, *14*(2), 136–148. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1094670510390202</u> Falk, A. C., & Wallin, E. M. (2016). Quality of patient care in the critical care unit in relation to nurse patient ratio: A descriptive study. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, 35, 74–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iccn.2016.01.002</u>

Fan, Y. W., & Ku, E. (2010). Customer focus, service process fit and customer relationship management profitability: The effect of knowledge sharing. *Service Industries Journal*, 30(2), 203–223.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02642060802120141

- Fatima, T., Malik, S. A., & Shabbir, A. (2017). Hospital healthcare service quality, patient satisfaction and loyalty. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 35(6), 1195–1214. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-02-2017-0031</u>
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175–191.

https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03193146

- Frey, R. V., Bayon, T., & Totzek, D. (2013). How customer satisfaction affects employee satisfaction and retention in a professional services context. *Journal of Service Research*, 16, 503–517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1094670513490236</u>
- Friesen, P., Kearns, L., Redman, B., & Caplan, A. L. (2017). Rethinking the Belmont report? *American Journal of Bioethics*, 17(7), 15–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2017.1329482</u>

Glover, G. (2019). Relationships between nursing resources, uncompensated care, hospital profitability, and quality of care. [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

Gray, E. D. (2018). Doing research in the real world (4th ed.). Sage.

- Guo, P., Tang, C. S., Wang, Y., & Zhao, M. (2019). The impact of reimbursement policy on social welfare, revisit rate, and waiting time in public healthcare system: Fee-for-service versus bundled payment. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 21(1), 154–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/msom.2017.0690</u>
- Halm, M. (2019). The influence of appropriate staffing and healthy work environments on patient and nurse outcomes. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 28(2), 152– 156. <u>https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2019938</u>
- Hannes, K., Heyvaert, M., Slegers, K., Vandenbrande, S., & Van Nuland, M. (2015).
 Exploring the potential for a consolidated standard for reporting guidelines for qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14, 1–16.
 https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1609406915611528
- Hendrickson, A. B. (2018). Patient satisfaction: A qualitative case study of HCAHPS scores and actual patient experience. Publication No. 10931438 [Doctoral dissertation, Northcentral University]. ProQuest
- Hennebel, T., Boon, N., Maes, S., & Lenz, M. (2015). Biotechnologies for critical raw material recovery from primary and secondary sources: R&D priorities and future perspectives. *New Biotechnology*, 32(1), 121–127.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2013.08.004

- Heskett, J., Jones, T. O., Loveman, G. W., & Schlesinger, L. A. (1994). Putting the service-profit chain to work. *Harvard Business Review*, 72(2), 164–174. <u>https://hbr.org/2008/07/putting-the-service-profit-chain-to-work</u>
- Hogreve, J., Iseke, A., Derfuss, K., & Eller, T. (2017). The service-profit chain: A metaanalytic test of a comprehensive theoretical framework. *Journal of Marketing*, *81*(1), 41–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1509%2Fjm.15.0395</u>
- Hopman, P., Schellevis, F. G., & Rijken, M. (2016). Health-related needs of people with multiple chronic diseases: Differences and underlying factors. *Quality of Life Research*, 25(3), 651–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-015-1102-8</u>
- Hultman, J. A. (2020). The profit equation. *Podiatry Management*, *39*(3), 161–162. <u>https://podiatrym.com/pdf/2020/2/Hultman320web.pdf</u>
- Humphreys, M., & Jacobs, A. M. (2015). Mixing methods: A Bayesian approach. American Political Science Review, 109, 653–673.

https://doi:10.1017/S0003055415000453

- ITUP, Insure the uninsured project. (2015). HHS Secretary Burwell unveils assertive push toward Medicare payment reform.
- Jennings, J. C., Landry, A. Y., Hearld, L. R., & Snyder, S. W., Weech-Maldonado, R., & Patrician, P. A. (2017). Examining the relationship between community orientation and hospital financial performance. *Journal of Organizational Psychology*, 17(2), 50–60. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/home/opr</u>
- Jie, C., Koren, M. E., Munroe, D. J., & Ping, Y. (2014). Is the hospital's magnet status 103 linked to HCAHPS scores? Hospital consumer assessment of healthcare

providers and systems. Journal of Nursing Care Quality, 29, 327-335.

https://doi.org/10.1097/ncq.000000000000062

- Kash, B., Spaulding, A., Gamm, L., & Johnson, C. (2014). Health care administrators' perspectives on the role of absorptive capacity for strategic change initiatives: A qualitative study. *Health Care Manage Review*, 38(4), 339–348. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0b013e318276faf8
- Keiningham, T. L., Aksoy, L., Malthouse, E. C., Lariviere, B., & Buoye, A. (2014). The cumulative effect of satisfaction with discrete transactions on share of wallet. *Journal of Service Management*, 25(3), 310–333.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-08-2012-0163

Kowalski, C., Yeaton, W. H., Kuhr, K., & Pfaff, H. (2017). Helping hospitals improve patient centeredness: Assessing the impact of feedback following a best practice workshop. *Evaluation & the Health Professions*, 40(2), 180–202.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0163278716677321

Kowang, T. O., Yew, L. K., Fei, G. C., Rasli, A., Hee, O. C., & Long, C. S. (2018).
Integration of service blueprint and Kano model: A new perspective of service quality framework. *Turkish Online Journal of Design, Art & Communication*, 8, 1712–1717. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7456/1080SSE/228</u>

Kuipers, S. J., Cramm, J. M., & Nieboer, A. P. (2019). The importance of patientcentered care and co-creation of care for satisfaction with care and physical and social well-being of patients with multi-morbidity in the primary care setting. *BMC Health Services Research*, *19*(1), 13–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-</u> 018-3818-y

- Laird, E. A., McCance, T., McCormack, B., & Gribben, B. (2015). Patients' experiences of in-hospital care when nursing staff were engaged in a practice development program to promote person-centeredness: A narrative analysis study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52(9), 1454–1462.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.05.002
- Landreneau, K. J. (2019). Sampling Strategies. NATCO. https://www.natco1.org/assets/1/6/SamplingStrategies.pdf
- Landrum, B., & Garza, G. (2015). Mending fences: Defining the domains and approaches of quantitative and qualitative research. *Qualitative Psychology*, 2, 199–209. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/qup0000030</u>
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2016). *Practical research: planning and design* (10th ed.). Pearson.
- Leigh, J., Markis, C., Iosif, A.-M., & Romano, P. (2015). California's nurse-to-patient ratio law and occupational injury. *International Archives of Occupational & Environmental Health*, 88(4), 477–484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-014-0977-</u>
- Li, S., Pittman, P., Han, X., & Lowe, T. J. (2017). Nurse-related clinical nonlicensed personnel in U.S. hospitals and their relationship with nurse staffing levels.
 Health Services Research, 52, 422–436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12655</u>

- Lim, J. S., Lim, K. S., Heinrichs, J. H., Al-Aali, K., Aamir, A., & Qureshi, M. I. (2018). The role of hospital service quality in developing the satisfaction of the patients and hospital performance. *Management Science Letters*, 8(1), 1353–1362, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2018.9.004</u>
- Lin, Y., & Wu, L. (2014). Exploring the role of dynamic capabilities in firm performance under the resource-based view framework. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(3), 407–413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.12.019</u>
- Lipovetski, O., & Cojocaru, D. (2019). Patient-centered care with shared decisionmaking: Physician-patient relationship: Comparative analysis. *Social Research Reports*, 11(3), 18–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.33788/srr11.3.2</u>
- Liu, X., Zheng, J., Liu, K., Baggs, J. G., Liu, J., Wu, Y., & You, L. (2018). Hospital nursing organizational factors, nursing care left undone, and nurse burnout as predictors of patient safety: A structural equation modeling analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 86, 82–89.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.05.005

- Liu, Y., & Aungsuroch, Y. (2017). Factors influencing nurse-assessed quality nursing care: A cross-sectional study in hospitals. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(4), 935–945. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13507</u>
- Lorié, Á., Reinero, D. A., Phillips, M., Zhang, L., & Riess, H. (2017). Culture and nonverbal expressions of empathy in clinical settings: A systematic review. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *100*(3), 411–424.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13507

- Losh, S. C. (2017). Guide 4: Quasi-experiments, internal validity, and experiments II. EDF 5481 Methods of Educational Research, 1(1), 1–12.
- Lu, H., Zhao, Y., & While, A. (2019). Job satisfaction among hospital nurses: A literature review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 94, 21–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.01.011</u>
- Ly, D. P., & Cutler, D. M. (2018). Factors of U.S. hospitals associated with improved profit margins: An observational study. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 33(7), 1020–1027. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007%2Fs11606-018-4347-4</u>
- Margrave, S., & Salinas, D. (2020). A means to an end: Impacting patient satisfaction through nursing strategic initiatives. *Nurse Leader*, 18(4), 381–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2019.09.017

Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2013). *Designing qualitative research*. Sage.

- Mazurenko, O., Collum, T., Ferdinand, A., & Menachemi, N. (2017). Predictors of hospital patient satisfaction as measured by HCAHPS: A systematic review.
 Journal of Healthcare Management, 62(4), 272–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/jhm-d-15-00050</u>
- McCusker, K., & Gunavdin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, 30, 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- McNicholas, A., McCall, A., Werner, A., Wounderly, R., Marinchak, E., & Jones, P.
 (2017). Improving patient experience through nursing satisfaction. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, 24(6), 371–375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/jtn.00000000000328</u>

Morrissey, M. B., & Ruxton, G. D. (2018). Multiple regression is not multiple regressions: The meaning of multiple regression and the non-problem of collinearity. *Philosophy, Theory, and Practice in Biology, 10*(3), 1–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.3998/ptpbio.16039257.0010.003</u>

Muskananfola, I. L., & Nasution, T. H. (2019). Analyzes of nurse work load and teamwork with the service quality of pre-hospital emergency in Kupang, East Nusa Tenggara, Indonesia. *International Journal of Nursing Education*, 11(3), 80–85. <u>https://doi:10.5958/0974-9357.2019.00069.2</u>

- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office.
- Nguyen, B., & Mutum, D. S. (2012). A review of customer relationship management: Successes, advances, pitfalls, and futures. *Business Process Management Journal*, 18, 400–419. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/14637151211232614
- Norman, G. R., Monteiro, S. D., Sherbino, J., Ilgen, J. S., Schmidt, H. G., & Mamede, S. (2017). The causes of errors in clinical reasoning: cognitive biases, knowledge deficits, and dual process thinking. *Academic Medicine*, 92(1), 23–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/acm.00000000001421</u>

Oakley, J. L. (2012). Bridging the gap between employees and customers. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 28, 1094–1113.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2011.617707

- O'Barr, G. W. (2017). Predictability of inpatient satisfaction scores based on hospital characteristics: Quantitative analysis of HCAHPS survey data, 7/1/2013 through 6/30/2014. [Doctoral dissertation, Colorado University].
- Pantouvakis, A., & Bouranta, N. (2013). The interrelationship between service features, job satisfaction and customer satisfaction: Evidence from the transport sector. *TQM Journal*, 25(2), 186–201. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/17542731311299618</u>
- Pasupathy, K. S., & Triantis, K. P. (2007). A framework to evaluate service operations: Dynamic service-profit chain. *Quality Management Journal*, 14(3), 36–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10686967.2007.11918034</u>
- Patton, C. (2018). The impact of nurse communication on patient satisfaction and organizational performance HCAHPS scores in acute care hospitals in Northern
 California Pro. (Publication No. 10623118) [Doctoral dissertation, Grand Canyon University]. ProQuest Information & Learning
- Piper, L. E., & Tallman, E. (2016). Hospital consumer assessment of healthcare providers and systems: An ethical leadership dilemma to satisfy patients. *Health Care Manager*, 35, 151–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/hcm.000000000000108</u>
- Ploutz-Snyder, R. J., Fiedler, J., & Feiveson, A. H. (2014). Justifying small-n research in scientifically amazing settings: Challenging the notion that only "big-n" studies are worthwhile. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *116*, 1251–1252.

https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01335.2013

Pollanen, R., Abdel-Maksoud, A., Elbanna, S., & Mahama, H. (2016). Relationships between strategic performance measures, strategic decision-making, and organizational performance: Empirical evidence from Canadian public organizations. *Public Management Review*, *19*, 725–746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2016.1203013</u>

- Pross, C., Geissler, A., & Busse, R. (2017). Measuring, reporting, and rewarding quality of care in 5 nations: 5 policy levers to enhance hospital quality accountability. *Milbank Quarterly*, 95(1), 136–183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12248</u>
- Quaife, M., Terris-Prestholt, F., Di Tanna, G. L., & Vickerman, P. (2018). How well do discrete choice experiments predict health choices? A systematic review and meta-analysis of external validity. *European Journal of Health Economics*, 19(8), 1053–1066. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10198-018-0954-6
- Raharjo, H., Guglielmetti, M., Pietro, L. D., & Toni, M. (2016). Do satisfied employees lead to satisfied patients? An empirical study in an Italian hospital. *Total Quality Management*, 27(8), 853–875. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2016.1190641</u>
- Ratner, S., & Pignone, M. (2019). Quality improvement principles and practice. *Primary Care, 46*(4), 505–514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pop.2019.07.008</u>
- Rennie, D. L. (2012). Qualitative research as methodical hermeneutics. *Psychological Methods*, 17, 385–398. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0029250</u>
- Richter, J. P., & Muhlestein, D. B. (2017). Patient experience and hospital profitability: Is there a link? *Health Care Management Review*, 42(3), 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1097/hmr.000000000000105
- Roczen, M. L. (2017). Provision of hospital-based palliative care and the impact on organizational and patient outcomes (Publication No. 978-1369147933) [Doctoral

dissertation, Virginia Commonwealth University]. ProQuest Information & Learning

- Rogers, A. E., Hwang, W.-T., Scott, L. D., Aiken, L. H., & Dinges, D. F. (2004). The working hours of hospital staff nurses and patient safety. *Health Affairs*, 23(4), 202–212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.23.4.202</u>
- Roghani, A., & Chenari, V. (2017). The relationship between strategic human capital and financial performance of hospitals. *International Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 11(1), 1068–1073.
 https://www.proquest.com/openview/bf3587c7088a983ffc363d042585934a/1.pdf

<u>?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=51667</u>

- Rothberg, M. B., Abraham, I., Lindenauer, P. K., & Rose, D. (2005). Improving nurse-to-patient staffing ratios as a cost-effective safety intervention. *Medical Care*, 43(8), 785–791. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mlr.0000170408.35854.fa</u>
- Rozario, D. (2019). How well do we do what we do, and how do we know it? The importance of patient-reported experience measures in assessing our patients' experience of care. *Canadian Journal of Surgery*, 62, E7–E9. https://doi.org/10.1503/cjs.006618

Rubin, A., & Babbie, E. R. (2016). Empowerment series: Research methods for social work. *Cengage Learning 1*, 1–77.

Salancik, G. (1978). The external control of organizations: A resource dependence perspective. Pitman Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/258287</u>

- Santos, F., Zakaria, A. S., Kassouf, W., Tanguay, S., & Aprikian, A. (2015). High hospital and surgeon volume and its impact on overall survival after radical cystectomy among patients with bladder cancer in Quebec. *World Journal of Urology*, 33(9), 1323–1330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euo.2019.11.005
- Santos, H. P. O., Black, A. M., & Sandelowski, M. (2014). Timing of translation in cross language qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 134–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732314549603</u>
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson.
- Shafei, I., Walburg, J., & Taher, A. (2019). Verifying alternative measures of healthcare service quality. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, 32(2), 516–533. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJHCQA-05-2016-0069</u>
- Shan, L., Li, Y., Ding, D., Wu, Q., Liu, C., Jiao, M., Hao, Y., Han, Y., Gao, L., Hao, J., Wang, L., Xu, W., & Ren, J. (2016). Patient satisfaction with hospital inpatient care: Effects of trust, medical insurance and perceived quality of care. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(10), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164366</u>
- Sherman, R. O. (2014). The patient engagement imperative. American Nurse Today 9(2), 1–4. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/260036096_The_patient_engagement_i</u> mperative

Simmons, R. L. (2016). The relationship between customer relationship management usage, customer satisfaction, and revenue. (Publication No. 978-1339045948)[Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Information & Learning

Simons, C. L., Smith, J., & White, P. (2014). Interactive ant colony optimization (iACO) for early lifecycle software design. *Swarm Intelligence*, 8, 139–157. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11721-014-0094-2</u>

- Snowden, A. (2014). Ethics and originality in doctoral research in the UK. *Nurse Researcher*, 21, 12–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.7748/nr.21.6.12.e1244
- Soric, M. M., Glowczewski, J. E., & Lerman, R. M. (2016). Economic and patient satisfaction outcomes of a layered learning model in a small community hospital. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 73(7), 456–462. <u>https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp150359</u>
- Spetz, J. (2017). Forecasts of the registered nurse workforce in California. University of California, San Francisco, 1(1), 1–37.

https://rn.ca.gov/pdfs/forms/forecasts2007.pdf

Spielman, S. E., Folch, D., & Nagle, N. (2014). Patterns and causes of uncertainty in the American Community Survey. *Applied Geography*, 46, 147–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2013.11.002</u>

Steinke, C. (2009). Empowering patients through service design. Academy of Management Annual Meeting Proceedings, 1, 1–6. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2009.44257392</u>

- Strydom, G., Ewing, M. T., & Heggen, C. (2019). Time lags, non-linearity and asymmetric effect in an extended service-profit chain. *European Journal of Marketing*, 54(10). 2343–2363. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10536/DRO/DU:30137541</u>
- Suzanne, F., Souraya, S., & Mary, F. (2019). Strategies for balancing internal and external validity in evaluations of interventions. *Nurse Researcher*, 27(4), 19–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2019.e1646</u>
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2019). *Using multivariate statistics* (7th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Taber, K. (2017). The use of Cronbach's alpha when developing and reporting research instruments in science education. *Research in Science Education*, 48(6), 1–24. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11165-016-9602-2
- Tang, C., Tian, B., Zhang, X., Zhang, K., Xiao, X., Simoni, J. M., & Wang, H. (2019).
 The influence of culture competence of nurses on patient satisfaction and mediating effect of patient trust. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 75(4), 749–759.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13854
- Tefera, L., Lehrman, W. G., & Conway, P. (2016). Measurement of the patient experience: Clarifying facts, myths, and approaches. *Jama*, 315, 2167–2168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.1652</u>

Thompson, J. D. (1967). Organizations in action. McGraw-Hill.

Toomey, P. G., Teta, B. S., Patel, K. D., Ross, S. B., & Rosemurgy, A. S. (2016). High-volume surgeons vs high-volume hospitals: Are best outcomes more due to who

or where? American Journal of Surgery, 211(1), 59–63.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2015.08.021

- Upadhyay, S., Stephenson, A. L., & Smith, D. G. (2019). Readmission rates and their impact on hospital financial performance: A study of Washington hospitals. *Journal of Healthcare Organization*, 56(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958019860386</u>
- Vannest, K. J., & Ninci, J. (2015). Evaluating intervention effects in single-case research designs. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 93, 403–411.

https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1002/jcad.12038

Varoquaux, G. (2018). Cross-validation failure: small sample sizes lead to large error bars. *Neuroimage*, *180*(1), 68-77.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.06.061

- Verhoef, P. C., Venkatesan, R., McAlister, L., Malthouse, E. C., Krafft, M., & Ganesan, S. (2010). CRM in data-rich multichannel retailing environments: A review and future research directions. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 24, 121–137. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2010.02.009
- Welsh, J. (2019). 5 areas where hospitals can improve both financial performance and patient care. *Healthcare Financial Management, December Data Trends*, 66–67. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0219124</u>
- Wester, K. L., Borders, L. D., Boul, S., & Horton, E. (2013). Research quality: Critique of quantitative articles in the journal of counseling & development. *Journal of*

Counseling & Development, 91, 280–290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00096.x</u>

- Wetering, R. V. D., & Versendaal, J. (2020). Flexible collaboration infrastructures and healthcare information exchange in hospitals: An empirical resource-based perspective. *International Journal of Networking and Virtual Organisations*, 23(2), 171–188. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1504/IJNVO.2020.108867</u>
- Williams, P., & Naumann, E. (2011). Customer satisfaction and business performance: A firm-level analysis. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 25(1), 20-32. <u>https://doi:10.1108/08876041111107032</u>
- Wilson, K. G., Dalgleish, T. L., Chochinov, H. M., Chary, S., Gagnon, P. R., Macmillan, K., & Fainsinger, R. L. (2016). Mental disorders and the desire for death in patients receiving palliative care for cancer. *BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care*, 6, 170–177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjspcare-2013-000604</u>
- Yang, K., Tu, J., & Chen, T. (2019). Homoscedasticity: An overlooked critical assumption for linear regression. *General Psychiatry*, 32(5), 100–148. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1136%2Fgpsych-2019-100148</u>
- Ye, J., Dong, B., & Lee, J. Y. (2017). The long-term impact of service empathy and responsiveness on customer satisfaction and profitability: A longitudinal investigation in a healthcare context. *Marketing Letters*, 28(4), 551–564. https://doi:10.1007/s1102-017-9429-2
- Yin, R. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Sage.

- Zolot, J. (2017). Nurse perception of workplace safety affects patient care. *AJN American Journal of Nursing*, *117*(2), 14. <u>https://doi: 10.1097/01.NAJ.0000512286.71113.23</u>
- Zuo, X. N., & Xing, X. X. (2014). Test-retest reliabilities of resting-state FMRI measurements in human brain functional connectomics: A systems neuroscience 126 perspective. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 45, 100–118.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.05.009</u>

Appendix: Secondary Data Nature and Source

The secondary data used in this study will come from a government database. HCAHPS scores are publicly reported every quarter on the hospital compare website: www.medicare.gov/hospitalcompare, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2019). each quarter when the newest scores are added, the oldest scores are removed. In April 2015, 4,167 hospitals publicly reported HCAHPS scores recorded from over 3 million surveys. Typically, more than 8000 HCAHPS surveys are completed by patients every day.